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Canadian Military Heritage says the following about the events described in this book:



“It is undoubtedly a unique event in the history of the Royal Canadian Air Force in World War II”
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DETAILED MAP OF SØRE NESET,  STRØNO AND ISLANDS

TO THE NORWEGIAN COAST

Gordon Biddle was the Captain of a Canadian bomber with a crew of six men.  The co-pilot was George Death, and Maurice Neil was the navigator.

The other crew members were Harvey Firestone, Kenneth Graham and George Grandy, who were wireless air-gunners.  They had three roles: radio-operator,
 radar operator, and gunner.  They would rotate positions during each flight.

Five of them were from Ontario and Harvey Firestone was from Quebec.  Biddle, Neil and Graham were married, the others were single.  They met at a training base just north of the England-Scotland border, near the east coast.  Gordon Biddle had been through the training  there before.   He joined 407 Squadron as a Captain and chose his crew.

407 was known as the “Demon Squadron,” and was one of the few wholly Canadian squadrons in Coastal Command.  It was associated with the RAF (Royal Air Force). George Grandy and Harvey Firestone already knew each other from training at radio school and radar training together.  They had also roomed together while on leave in London.  Other than that, the crew did not know each other when the six arrived at the base in Scotland.

Ken Graham had participated in operations in North-Africa and India.  Maurice Neil and George Grandy had worked as instructors in Canada before being posted to Great Britain.  George Death came directly from pilot training in Canada.

They trained together at the base, becoming familiar with aircraft types.  The six developed into a well-functioning operational unit.  A major driving force in training, particularly in war, is that the more training you do and the better shape you are in, the better your chance of survival.  They worked tirelessly and had good reason to be proud of their skills.  As time passed, the grew got a reputation for being one of the best crews on the course, if not the best.  So when the brass came to visit, Biddle's crew was usually the one picked to demonstrate their skills.

After training, they were first posted to the west coast of England.  They were considered to be one of the best crews in 407 Squadron.  They hunted for submarines, which over the years had created such havoc for Allied supply convoys on the North Atlantic. The u-boats were not easy to locate in the daytime because they stayed submerged, but at night surfaced to recharge their batteries.  Anti-submarine operations therefore were conducted mostly at night, because the aircraft crews could search for their targets with radar.  The Allies had  better radar than the Germans.  

Coastal Command's planes flew as dark shadows at a height of 800 feet.  The aircraft were equipped with instruments that enabled them to identify whether ships were friends or foes, to avoid attacking allied ships.  Allied ships had similar instruments for identifying whether aircraft were friendly.

Some of the aircraft were equipped with Leigh-lights in their fuselage, which were extremely powerful spotlights.  The Leigh-lights gave the aircraft a huge advantage at night. When the sky was overcast, German naval crews could not see the aircraft before the ships were suddenly bathed in light.    The anti-aircraft operators on the ships had little chance to get the aircraft in their sights before the aircraft had dropped their bombs and flown out of range.

D-day, the Allied invasion of Normandy, took place on June 6, 1944.  In the weeks leading up to D-day, 407 Squadron operated in the English Channel and Bay of Biscay to keep the channel clear of u-boats and to keep the submarines away from the invasion fleet crossing from southern England.  In the days before D-day, there was little rest for the crews, and the planes were in the air both day and night.

After the Allies had landed in France, the Germans had to evacuate their submarine bases in France and elsewhere, and moved the bulk of the u-boat fleet north to Norway's west coast.  407 Squadron therefore moved to an air base at Wick, Scotland, closer to the u-boat bases on the Norwegian coast.  Gordon Biddle and his crew were stationed in Wick as of the first week of August, 1944.

As usual, it was rainy in the early morning hours of Tuesday, September 26, 1944. Biddle's crew was scheduled to again head northeast, looking for u-boats off the Norwegian coast.   The rain was horizontal over the airport, driven by strong northwesterly winds that whipped the barracks and bombers..

Around midnight, they had the usual pre-flight eggs and bacon in the mess.  Three other crews were on patrol that night. Biddle was to take off first, and the others in turn, each heading to an assigned patrol area.

After Biddle and the crew had eaten, they gathered around the navigator, who passed on the rather dismal weather reports. Neil had a habit of adding a joke to his briefing of the crew, and this time he added that if the weather were better, he would plot a course for Sweden, where they could relax, go on a pub crawl, and forget the war.  The others went along with the joke, saying that Sweden sounded far better than rain-soaked north Scotland.  

When they left the mess, they spoke with concern about the stormy weather, not because they feared the wind, but because they did not want their patrol to be canceled at the last minute, as the strength of the gusts was increasing, not decreasing.  Only a few days before they had to cancel a patrol because the skipper was suffering from a high fever.  They did not want to miss out on another flight, so they hurried out and took their places aboard the aircraft they had been assigned to -- a Wellington.

Not all the aircraft in the squadron had been equipped with Leigh-lights, but this one was.  It had a machine gun in the nose, four machine guns in the tail turret, and eight depth charges.

Their fears were not realized – they got the green light for the mission.  “Here we go,” said the Captain over the intercom.  He taxied onto the runway and turned the bomber into the wind.  With visibility of barely half a kilometre, the wind thundered over its wings as the bomber took off an hour past midnight.  The wind speed was about 50 knots – a “full storm” on the Beaufort scale.

The plane had a top speed of about 400 kilometres an hour.  They flew north first, over the Scottish east coast, before the Captain turned on a course to the patrol area.  The weather gods took pity on them, and they had calm weather for the first few uneventful hours of the cruise over the North Sea.   They flew at the normal patrol height of 800 feet, about 50 miles from the Norwegian coast and roughly parallel to it.

A BOMBER IN TROUBLE

Suddenly, at about 5 a.m., the starboard engine coughed and sprayed sparks, but then rumbled smoothly again.   Gordon Biddle gave it full throttle and climbed to 3000 feet before levelling off to resume the patrol.  

Soon the starboard engine coughed again, and a huge fireball shot out from it.  The plane shook violently and the engine was aflame.  

The Captain immediately shut down the fuel to the starboard engine and the co-pilot activated the engine fire extinguisher.  

Harvey Firestone had been at the radar station, and had just moved to the tail turret, after having switched positions with Ken Graham.  

To ease the load on the port engine, it was necessary to reduce weight, and the Captain ordered Firestone to move forward to help jettison unnecessary material.  He crawled out of the turret and stumbled forward.  The co-pilot and navigator smashed out the batteries for the Leigh-light, and threw them out the hatches, and then attacked the light with axes.   After a lot of work, they managed to free it from its mounts and it disappeared into the sea below them.  Meanwhile, Ken Graham dismantled the radar equipment and jettisoned it.

The Captain had already opened the bomb-bay doors and released the depth-charges into the sea, while he turned course 180 degrees and headed back to Scotland.  

However, they were losing height at an alarming rate.  Next to go was the machine-gun ammunition.  Harvey suggested that he go back and fire the guns until they were empty, but the Captain was concerned that firing the weapons would affect his control of the plane.  Two men took the ammunition boxes and shoved them out the opening where the Leigh-light had been.  The ammunition for the front machine gun went the same route.

When they were out on missions, they did not use the radio except in emergencies because the enemy could locate them by intercepting and triangulating the signals. George Grandy was ordered to break radio silence to inform the home base. He sent a Morse-code message   – QDM.  QDM was the equivalent of SOS.  QDM has different levels from 1 to 5, with 1 being the lowest.  Grandy sent QDM-1.

They were glad to hear a response that came from Group headquarters.  They received a weather report that there was no change in the weather, that they would have headwinds on their present course, and the winds were not expected to slow for a few hours. They were told that, instead of trying to head back to Scotland, they should head for the Shetland Islands, which were closer.  The aircraft continued to send signals so that Group HQ could plot the course and remain aware of their position.

When all the ammunition was gone, one of the men pulled out a parachute.  But they all agreed that they would never survive if they jumped out and into the violent sea below them.  The water was so cold that they could not have held out for more than a couple of minutes.  They decided they had to remain in the plane, so out went the parachutes.  However, they continued to lose altitude.  They were again below 1000 feet, so it was essential that they continue to reduce weight.

After a short discussion with the co-pilot and navigator, the Captain decided that the would release three quarters of the gas in the wing tanks and that they would still have enough left to reach the Shetland Islands.  The gas flowed out in 20 seconds.  But fate conspired against the six young Canadians that early autumn morning.  The copilot had released the necessary amount, but could not close the valve to stop the flow, and the entire supply in the wing tanks sprayed into the wind.

They had only the reserve tank of 450 liters, and the Wellington could stay airborne for only half an hour with that little fuel.  They had to forget Shetland, because if they continued at the current rate they would have to ditch in the sea, with minimal hope of being rescued.  At best, a Wellington could stay afloat in the sea maybe sixty seconds.  But with the gaping hole in the fuselage left by the removal of the Leigh-light, they doubted it would stay afloat for half that time.

George Grandy stayed continuously at the Morse key, and now changed the status from QDM-1 to QDM-3, and informed Group how conditions had deteriorated.  There was no solace in the response, which only confirmed what they already knew –  that they could not survive for any length of time if they had to ditch at sea.  The waves were from 50 to 60 feet high, and the little lifeboat that they had on board would quickly fill with water and sink.  An air-sea rescue was not possible.  They were the only aircraft in the area, because the other flights had been grounded by the weather.  Nor were there any allied ships in the area.  There was no hope that the storm would lessen in the next few hours.

They all realized that their only chance was to turn around, take advantage of the wind and head for Norway, which was less than 100 miles away.  George Grandy informed Group, which agreed and asked them to continue to send signals, and ended the message with “Good luck.”

Captain Biddle swung the machine around to the new course – east to Nazi-occupied territory. In minutes they threw overboard all the material that must not fall into enemy hands.  Out went code books, maps and charts, personal papers and letters.  The navigator sighed as he tore a check in two – it was his poker winnings from a successful evening a few days earlier. 

At full power the skipper was able to get the bomber to climb a few feet.  Their greatest fear was that the remaining engine would overheat, but it didn't show any signs of problems.

Flying with the wind, the plane's ground-speed had increased considerably, and with the first grey of dawn, the Captain and co-pilot could make out  mountain peaks over the horizon.  The entire crew constantly listened to the one engine, which continued to function normally.  

The wind gusts moderated gradually, the rain storm slowly abated and the weather became almost pleasant.  

A check on the fuel gauge showed that they would be incredibly lucky to be reach land.  The intercom had been silent for a while, but now the muffled voice of one of them could be heard saying the Lord's Prayer.

As it continued very slowly to clear up, they could see that they were over a large number of islands large and small..  Biddle saw what looked like an entrance to a fjord and headed towards it.

The skipper saw several large ships and a submarine.  He had no choice but to fly right over them.  The submarine dove so quickly they could see the foam around it.  They all thought of the depth-charges that now lay on the seabed.

As they approached the convoy, one of the air-gunners went up front and looked over the skipper's right shoulder.  He saw shells exploding to starboard and tracers arcing towards them.  He shouted to the Captain.  He never forgot the peaceful expression on Biddle's face when he turned and said “So what?”

He scrambled back and shot a flare from the Very pistol, hoping that the flare would cause the naval artillery to think that it was a German aircraft.  It was a trick that aircrew had used more than once.  After he fired, he went forward again to see if there was any reaction.  It seemed that the barrage stopped for a few seconds, but then resumed with a crash. The gunner went back and fired another flare, but this time it had no effect.  On the contrary, it seemed to spur a greater reaction.  He plugged in the earphones to hear something from the cockpit, but the intercom did not seem to be working any more.

That morning, a man on one of the islands in Austevoll watched a single airplane approaching from the sea.  He heard the cannonade from the passing convoy and saw a green light shoot out from the aircraft.  He was able to confirm that the light had actually caused the bombardment to stop for a short while.

George Grandy was still sending messages to Group, and was so concentrated on his task that he did not notice the tracer bullet that hit right beside him.  Meanwhile, the port engine began to lose power, probably hit in the barrage from the convoy.  All held their breath, but then the propeller began to turn at full speed again.  The Captain and copilot searched for a place they could put the plane down.  They were the only ones who could see where they were heading.  The others wondered whether it would be water or land – they had seen both.  

They rumbled over several small islands and a small peninsula.  The pilots could seem more vessels, mostly u-boats, in an inlet, but could not see anything resembling a landing strip, they could not see any flat ground.  There was nothing but steep mountain slopes.  The got a brief glimpse of a glacier to starboard.

The Captain turned the bomber, retracing their course.  He had noticed something resembling a piece of grassy hill in the peninsula they had passed over and thought that it was their only chance.

At that time, George Grandy sent one last message that they were going to try to make an emergency landing.  The Captain ordered everyone to take their emergency landing positions.

Two of the crew removed the top hatch cover and threw it into the rear of the plane so that they could get out of the plane as quickly as possible.

For the crew in the fuselage, the aircraft seemed to climb one moment and dive the next, always veering and rocking from side to side.  From his position, the navigator saw land, then sky, then water again. 

George Grandy held onto the radio set, Maurice Neil clung to a steel plate on the map table, and the copilot took his place behind the door in the cockpit.

Ken Graham and Harvey Firestone took their places on the deck behind the main spar.  With a firm handshake, they wished each other good luck.  

Finally, the Captain saw a spot that looked like a possibility, and turned the nose of the plane towards it.  He decided to keep the wheels up, because a clean crash-landing was their only hope.  

The engine sputtered again, the propeller turned a few more times, and then stopped still.  The reserve tank was empty.

The crew could hear the wind against the sides of the aircraft as the sloping hill rushed to meet them.

Biddle first put the tail down to lose speed, then pointed the nose down to land before flying into a building that loomed before them on the hill.

Finally the first contact, with a loud crack and creaking of the hull.  The heavy aircraft bumped along for a few meters and then bounced in the air again.  One of the wings hit some trees before it hit the ground for good, sending up a cloud of hissing grass, dirt and mud.  There was a grinding of metal on board.

Captain Biddle was thrown against the instrument panel and was in pain after the crash.  The navigator fell from the map table, and was so distracted that at first he did not notice the gash in his head and the cut on one hand.  But he still needed to get out of the plane.  Although he know that they must have landed on solid ground, he looked for water cascading into the plane, as did Ken Graham and Harvey Firestone from their positions.

George Grandy and the radio-set had been thrown forward, and co-pilot George Death had hit his head.  Both Georges were bruised, but not out of action.

 The tail turret was touching the ground.  The top hatch was open to Firestone and Graham.  Harvey was struggling out of the debris so fast that he bumped his head against the spar and lost consciousness for a second.  Graham was also dizzy for a second, but no worse than when he got up on his feet and his crew-mate pushed him with both hands through the top hatch.

When Firestone was on his way out, he was aware enough to see the Captain crawl out through the front exit.  Only then was it clear to him that the had landed safely on the ground.  Harvey had a big bump on his head and an aching neck.  He got a hand up from Ken Graham, who pulled him out.  When they jumped down to the ground, the saw people come running from nearby houses.  Both turned to look for the rest of the crew, and to their great relief they saw that they were all out of the plane with no one left inside.

It all seemed to have happened in an instant and with some luck.  The landing had gone incredibly well.  In the final meters, Biddle had manoeuvred the plane up a slope in hilly terrain and landed in a small mountainside meadow surrounded by peaceful rural homes.

“IS SWEDEN FAR AWAY?”

The headmaster of the Søre Neset school was up early that morning.  He opened a history book to prepare for another day in the school room.  War or no war, children had to have their daily dose of immortal Norwegian heroes and to hear about Israel's long exile in Egypt.

For the children's sake, he fervently wished that the occupation would soon be a saga of the past.  The children wore clogs and hand-me-down clothes.  Their lunch sacks were filled with black bread sandwiches with some mushy substance substituting for butter or margarine.  The teacher had at times told his students that when the war was finally over, they could have grapes and bananas, which they could now only read about in geography books.  They always had a dreamy look in their eyes when he told them that.

His eyes and thoughts strayed from the book when he heard an aircraft to the west, followed by a furious barrage from all the nearby forts.  More than once had he seen aircraft fly past  surrounded by exploding ammunition.

Although it was already light outside, he put out the lights just in case, went to the window and opened the blinds.

A twin-engined aircraft was over Bjørnafjord, and he immediately knew it was not German.  He expected it at any moment to attack a cargo boat that he saw far out in the fjord heading south.  But it did not approach the ship, either by diving or by changing course towards it.  The teacher wondered why it had become quiet – even the anti-aircraft battery at the Rottingatangene base a few kilometres to the south was silent.

The plane continued on an easterly course over Søre Neset at an unusually low altitude, which could mean that its target was the Hatvik u-boat base on Bjørnafjord.  The lower its approach, the greater chance it would surprise the u-boat base.

However, the teacher could not hear a single shot from the plane.  When the aircraft was over Hatvik, it turned and headed out over the fjord.  It first made a turn towards Osøyro and was out of sight for a moment, but then it appeared again with a roar heading straight towards him like a fabulous bird over the treetops.

Then the teacher fully realized something that had been in the back of his mind for a while –  that something must be terribly wrong.  He saw the nose of the plane pointed directly at the school house, and thanked all the powers that be that his students have not yet arrived.  Then the roar of the engine stopped.

The plane came in over the farms just east of the school.  The teacher saw one of the plane's lights disappear behind some trees, then one wing of the plane struck some pine trees close to a house, cutting four-inch branches right off. The plane tore through some fence poles, then one wing snagged on a  mound of earth, causing the plane to pitch forward into the ground, stopping in the field in front of the school.

The teacher experienced what so many do when they become spectators to a dramatic event – they see it in slow motion.

His greatest fear was that the plane would burst into flames, but he did not smell smoke or fire.  He grabbed a shirt, put on his shoes, and hurried out to the plane.  To his great surprise and relief, he could see the crew crawl out of the plane one by one until six of them were standing there.  One of them was holding his head.

People from the nearby houses left their breakfast tables and assembled in a semicircle, staring at uniforms unlike any they had seen in the last four years. The youngsters looked at them like they were men from the moon come for a visit.  Their eyes wandered up and down over the huge plane standing there with one wing on the ground, the other high in the air, and the tail at an angle.

From the other point of view, the plane's navigator thought that the crowd seemed calm under the circumstances, and at the same time thought that they seemed safe enough, given that they were in a country with a Quisling regime and under German occupation.  The headmaster was at the front of the crowd, and he asked if he could help in any way.

For the Canadians, Norway was an unknown outpost at the edge of the world, so they were amazed that the first person they had contact with could speak almost perfect English.  Furthermore, it was not hard to read his body language – this person was an ally.  The first thing they asked him was if he could tell them exactly where they were.

He pointed to a hilltop not far away, where people were scurrying around, and said that there would be little time for explanation because those people were German soldiers and would soon be here.

“Is Sweden far away?” asked one of the crew, who appeared to be in charge.  

“More than fifty Norwegian miles
” replied the teacher, and informed them they should not think of trying to reach Sweden, at least not at first.  He told them briefly where they had landed, emphasized that the Germans had barracks and bases nearby, and told them that the City of Bergen was three Norwegian miles to the northwest.  

He told them not to wait, pointing out in words and with his finger that a German garrison  was stationed at Halhjem at the edge of the sea, one kilometre from where they now stood, and was now on its way.  

It appeared to the teacher that the aircrew felt hopeless and he got the impression that they thought their only alternative was to surrender.  It struck him that this would be wrong.  He pointed to a trail running to a spit of land that juts into Bjørnafjord and told them to go down the trail all the way to the end.  At the end of the path lived a man who spoke English.  If he was not at home, they should continue on where they would find a house where two sisters lived, and they were safe to talk to.  One had even lived in the United States.

The information seemed to lift the crew's spirits the tiniest bit. They even said “thank you” for the tip.

The crew then busied themselves.  One of them bandaged Maurice Neil's bleeding head with bandages from a first aid kit, while two men made sure they had left nothing on the plane that could be of value to the Germans.  When they had done that, they tried to burn the plane.

The aircraft had been burning while in flight, which they did not want, but now on the ground, when they wanted it to burn, they could not get it to catch fire.  They tried to special incendiary devices that the aircraft had just for situations like this, but they did not work.

Quick like a cat, Harvey scrambled into the plane and grabbed the Very pistol and the rest of the cartridges.  He fired a round into the plane from a distance, but without effect.  He went right back to the plane and peered in.  He saw a pool of what looked like oil, aimed at it and pulled the trigger.  The plane was burning once again.

In the few minutes while this was going on, even more spectators had gathered (about 30 by Harvey Firestone's estimate) and even more were on the way.  As thanks for his help, Harvey handed the Very pistol to the schoolteacher and then the crew headed down the trail and waved good-bye.

The crown melted away, but watched as the strangers disappeared below a hillside.  One boy who had a keen interest in airplanes and even planned to be a pilot sprinted to the edge of the hill and stood looking after them.

It was an adult who shouted that it was time to head back into their houses before the Germans showed up and before the plane exploded.  

Smoke rose from the bomber, which was now by itself on the hillside.

What saved the Canadians, if not random luck, was the fact that  there was no German guard at Halhjem that morning.  The troops had been ordered to a different location the previous day, and the new troops would not arrive until the next day.
FORTRESS OS

During the Nazi occupation of Norway from 1940-45, Os Kommune
 in Hordaland, where the Wellington landed, was a part of Fortress Norway, as the Germans called the defences they built in that country, especially along the coast.

Os, which at that time had about 4,000 inhabitants, forms the southern part of the Bergen peninsula with Bjørnafjord to the south and west.  In peacetime, the Marstein light flashes at the entrance to Korsfjord, guiding ships and boats on the proper course in from the sea.  Selbjørnsfjord cuts into the coast a short distance south of Bjørnafjord.  Between these two navigable fjords, Korsfjord and Selbjørnsfjord, is the island fishing community of Austevoll.  Bjørnafjord is between Os and Austevoll, and is used by coastal shipping.

If the allies would have tried to take Bergen peninsula, Os would have been a natural landing place.  The Germans therefore built strong defences in Os and around Bjørnafjord.  When the German guns opened fire, the earth shook, the windows rattled and people stopped what they were doing.

Naval vessels were always visible on the Bjørnafjord because it was a training area for both submarines and surface ships.  The occupiers controlled the shipping lanes in Selbjørnsfjord and Korsfjord.

The Germans took the old military camp of Ulven in Os on the first day of the occupation, April 9, 1940, and transformed it into a German fort by fall.  Part of it was used as a training ground for soldiers.

At Haugsneset, a few hundred meters from Osøyri,
 the largest town in Os, and west along Rottingatangene, the German installed coastal artillery and anti-aircraft guns.  Anti-aircraft batteries were also located in Mobersvika, near Osøyro.  The Rottingatangene installation was  manned by 150 soldiers.  At the south end of Bjørnafjord was Reksteren Island, which had two more defensive positions: Svarvahella in the north and Flygandsvær in the south.  

Bjørnafjord was surrounded by heavy artillery, which the Germans called Artillery Group Korsfjord.

In 1943, the Germans placed great emphasis on this part of its war machine.  In the fall of that year, they came to Hetleflåten farm, which is three kilometres from Osøyri on the road to Bergen and gave the farmer three days to leave the farm.  There they set up 21 centimeter cannons, which fired 125 kilogram shells.  They were used to cover Korsfjord, and their range reached 28 kilometres west to Marstein light.  A spotter's position was established in the mountains above the cannon positions to calculate direction and distance.  They also set up anti-aircraft artillery nests in the surrounding hills.  There were a hundred soldiers stationed at the farm.  

There was also a 200-man coastal artillery position at Tosdal.  

In Hatvik, the inhabitants were forced out of their homes in April 1943 and a month later those living on a farm in the hills above the town also were evicted.   Germans had been in the area for a while.  They built roads and buildings, and in the same year Hatvik became a u-boat base.  

People who got close enough, such as the postman who also served in Allied intelligence, counted up to 14 vessels at the base. There the Germans had 500 men, sometimes more.  The roads to Os were mined.  The shoreline near Hatvik and Osøyri was fortified heavily  through the war years.   An Os resident who escaped to Sweden in early 1945 said the work had gone on over a period of three years using Russian and Norwegian forced labour.  It was a zone with bunkers, barbed wire, and landmines.

There was a landmine field between Solstrand and the farms above the town.  There were barracks at Halhjem, in Lønningdal and elsewhere.

For two years in the middle of the war there was a prison camp for Russians at Haugsneset.  There was a similar camp at Tosdal, and in the middle of April 1943, 85 Russians were moved from Haugsneset to Lepsøy, where they would work on building a German base, among other things.  

German guards patrolled their regular routes, bridges and intersections, and bicycle patrols were a daily sight.

With all the wartime effort and German activity that there was in Os, it was not surprising that underground resistance efforts started early is Os.  In Autumn 1940, the local underground group established contact with similar groups in Bergen.

The leader of the Os underground group unfortunately did not last long.  He tried to travel to England through Bremnes with two of his close associates.  But the boat sank in in a storm.  

New people took over.  Intelligence work was always an important part of the resistance, and communications channels had to be kept open as far as possible.  People watched strategic locations around Os.  Couriers conveyed intelligence to Bergen where a radio operator would send on the information to London.  

WITH A PISTOL IN HIS SCARF

A man was cycling towards Os early on that eventful morning.  He was a well traveled man, born in Vladivostok, the end of the Trans-Siberian Railway.  Now he was a farmhand by day and a weapons instructor at night.  He had been in the neighbouring kommune of Fana, giving a course to MilOrg members there.  He met almost no one on his trip over the Fana mountains.  On his way to the coast, he could see Ole Bull's famous home Lysøen.  He then passed the ruins of Lyse monastery and continued on to Ulven.

A short distance before he reached his destination, he was stopped by a soldier who asked to see his pass.  At a nearby barracks, a platoon of soldiers was lined up with a sergeant-major standing in front of them pointing and gesturing.  Checking passes was not the most dangerous job in the army, and the guard yawned as he checked the pass.  After the cyclist had provided an explanation of where he was going, he was waved on.

He was on his way to the house where he normally lived, half a kilometre from the main town, on the east side of the Os peninsula.  

The cyclist's name was Helén Mowinckel Nilsen, but with one exception, he was the only person in the area who knew that.  He was known as Johannes Sigurdsson.  He had light skin and blond hair, and claimed to be descended from settlers in Iceland.  Like the bard and fighter Egil Skallagrimsson,
 he was taller than most people.  Among friends, he was known as  Lange Johannes (Long John).
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Helén Mowinckel Nilsen
He was born far away in the east because his Norwegian parents had lived for a while in eastern Siberia.  But the son grew up and went to school in Fana.  In 1939, at 19, he enlisted in the Kings Guard.

In February of 1944, he and another man, a radio-operator, had arrived in Austevoll from the Shetland Islands on a submarine chaser.
   They were both members of Linge Company.  The Captain of the subchaser that brought them back to Norway was Leif A. Larsen, who became known as Shetland Larsen because of his many exploits from the base in the Shetland Islands.

The plan was that the radio-operator would operate in the Bergen district, but because it was too risky to operate in Bergen at that time, he was sent to the Voss region and established his post on a mountain farm.  

Mowinckel Nilsen stayed in Bergen for a while, but the evenings in the spring and summer are very bright, and he could have been easily recognized, so he moved to Os.

He was a weapons and explosives instructor and first-rate organizer.  It did not take him long to organize the MilOrg resistance group in Os.  It was a textbook example of organization.  At that time, the group consisted of a few hundred men organized into two companies, with 19 teams.   It was unique nationwide for a community as small as Os.  One company was organized on the west side of Os, the other on the east side.

The top priority for the group was intelligence, which was relayed through a radio-operator in Bergen.  Not a single machine-gun nest could be built in Os and the surrounding areas without the information being passed on immediately to London.

For someone who lived in hiding and moved from place to place, keeping clothes clean is not the easiest thing.   He had to do his own laundry , carrying the wet laundry to the next stopping place to get it dry.   He wore ties only when he had to, but was often seen with a large scarf that covered his neck and collar so he didn't have to wash his shirt that often. But the most important thing about the scarf was that it was a hiding place for a small German-made Mauser pistol.  He said that if he were stopped and told to put his hands up, it would be easy to reach the gun if needed.  When the danger was over, he could loosen the scarf and the gun could slide back into his shirt and stop at his belt.  New clothes were also hard to get in his size, especially now that there were shortages of almost everything in the shops.

He rode over the bridge from Osøyri and continued to head east parallel to the river with both the scarf and gun in place.  His wet clothes were in a Bergen rucksack  that was very faded after long exposure to both snow and searing sun.  

He stopped at a bend in the road when he saw a bomber heading in over Bjørnatrynet, erratically waving its wings.  He thought he saw something thrown out of the plane.  As the plane disappeared from view, the sound became weaker, but remained audible.  The plane turned east of him in Bjørnafjord and the sound became louder again.

He wondered what was going on and waited for what would happen next.  He was near the fort at Haugsneset, and that appeared to be the plane's bombing target.  A sentry on  guard outside the fort disappeared back into a bunker, while Mowinckel Nilsen looked for a large rock or wall that he could take cover behind.  

But he stopped half way, because just as the plane reached the fort, it turned and Mowinckel Nilsen could clearly see the English markings on the wings.  His training in Britain had, among other things, included a cram course in aircraft, and he was able to identify the plane as a Wellington.  The plane headed towards the other side of the bay, turned left, and wobbled over a farm where owned by a farmer who was one of his most trusted men.  The plane continued on, just skimming over the treetops.

The tense onlooker wondered why the fort did not try to shoot down the plane.  Air-raid sirens used to sound, chasing people into shelters for far less than this, but they were quiet now.  The plane was over Bjørnatrynet and swung to the right, disappearing from view.  The roar of the plane's engines stopped suddenly, as if someone had pulled a plug.

Mowinckel Nilsen had concluded that there was something wrong with the plane.  He had a vague impression that one propeller was not turning.  He hadn't the least doubt that the plane had landed.  If he had any luck, he would make contact with the crew of the aircraft before the troops running around the garrison could grab their cartridge belts.

In Scotland, he and the rest of the company had trained hard to become skilled soldiers under the direction of British officers.  They had practiced both group combat and solo raids.  He was now comforted by a fact that he had observed since he had been back in Norway – that German soldiers always took the time to line up and marched in order, regardless of what occurred.

He got back on his bike and sped down the hill again, went along a path beside the river, and swung up the steep hill to the right, to the home of his closest comrade in arms.

“THEY GOT AWAY”

“What are we going to call the baby?” the minister asked a couple on a Sunday in July 1916.

“Jakob,” responded the godmother almost inaudibly.

“So I christen you Jakob Hjelle” said the minister in a resounding voice.

Neither he nor the godmother could know at that time that they had given a name that would be recorded in Norway's national saga.  

He grew to be a strongly-built man of medium height.  Teens often show their strength and skills in contests, and sometimes he was challenged to a wrestling match, but his opponents rarely sought a rematch, because he was very quick to win, without any tricks.  He followed his father's footsteps into a peaceful career as a woodcarver.
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Jakob Hjelle
One day during the occupation, he took a bus from Osøyri towards an isolated town, which because of its remote location, had become a base for those who sought to disrupt the German war machinery.  The town was called Lønningdal, and along with nearby Øvredal, was known as Indregardane (Inner Farms). 

Because of the scarcity of gasoline, buses and other vehicles had a gas generator mounted at the rear.  The gas generators looked like an old-fashioned cylindrical wood stove.  It was always touch and go whether the bus would be able to climb over the steepest hills, and the passengers often had to get out and push it over the last hill.

Jakob stood at the front of the bus, in the step just inside the door.  He had a Colt 45  in a holster under one arm.  There was always one control point on the route where passes were checked.  Around a bend, a group of Germans were waving the bus to a stop.  When the bus stopped and the door opened, Jakob stepped out so that the soldiers could enter and check passes and luggage.  When they were finished and left, he resumed his place inside the door.  He was the only one whose pass was not checked.

The soldiers did not have the slightest idea that Jakob was one of the leaders of the underground resistance in Os.  He had turned 28 that fall.  Because he was a woodcarver and self-employed, he did not have set working hours.  He had enjoyed roaming the mountains and forests since he was young, and no one could come and go unnoticed like Jakob Hjelle.  The trick of standing in a bus's doorway was just one example of his ability to avoid detection.  Over the last few years he had become a full time resistance fighter, with his woodcarving being a perfect cover.

Jacob Hjelle was the one person who knew Helén Mowinckel Nilsen's true identity.  Mowinckel Nilsen even let Hjelle know where he got his orders from.

At the beginning of the war, the group had only a few members, but over the years had grown quite large.  As the organization had developed and formalized, Hjelle was put in charge of one of the two companies.  But in reality, he was in control, working closely with Mowinckel Nilsen.

They were not lacking in weapons.  From time to time, boats from Shetland carried weapons to Austevoll.  The Bergen and Os groups used their own small boats to transport the weapons, both within Os and to neighboring areas.

One team was formed soon after the occupation.  It was know as the “Cover Group.”  The members of this team were responsible for guiding, guarding and supplying food to people who were in hiding. They kept track of rumours that the occupation troops and collaborators had observed suspicious behaviour.

Norwegians wanted by the Germans, and sometimes Russians who had escaped from prison camps, were hiding out in huts and remote camps, especially in the forests in the eastern part of Os.  Hjelle was the leader of the Cover Group and was in personal charge of its activities.

The Germans suspected that something was going on in the mountains and patrolled the area.  The patrols always came back with the same report “nichts vedächtig zu sehen” (nothing suspicious to see), which was proof of the Cover Group's effectiveness.

In the summer of 1943, the year before the Canadians' emergency landing at Søre Neset, Jakob Hjelle had been arrested and kept in the Espeland prisoner camp near Bergen, along with five fellow underground members.  What they were arrested for was not too serious.  The Nazis had organized a big event in the town.  But when the big day came, with a trumpet blast and chorus from the Germans, not a Norwegian was to be seen.

Jakob Hjelle and five others were accused of organizing the fiasco.  While the charge was not baseless, it was very hard to prove.  The Germans put them behind bars as a security measure, but mostly for show.  After three months, the offenders were released and were back home.  Hjelle was delighted that the Germans had had not been able to figure out what he really did.  Hjelle lived in Troppabakken, near Osøyri.

The woodcarver was at work in his shop one early Tuesday morning in September, carving the head of a woman, when a breathless Mowinckel Nilsen arrived and briefly described what he had just seen.

Jakob exclaimed “No kidding!”  
Mowinckel Nilsen went on, “If the landing was successful and the crew was able to escape, we need to contact them before the Germans get them.”  The initial task was assigned to the members of the company in western Os.

Hjelle thought that if what Mowinckel Nilsen hoped for had occurred, it would be a miracle, but miracles had happened before.  They could only wait for news from Søre Neset, but had no doubt they would soon hear something.

Mowinckel Nilsen saw opportunities where others were willing to give up.  His optimistic nature did not desert him this time either.  He would bike into Lønningdal to prepare for the possible arrival of the aircrew.  He was aware that it might be in vain, but he had to prepare for the possibility.  As an English agent, he had to stay away from the action for the first few days. He had no difficulty imagining what the the Germans would do if the aircrew managed to hide.

They agreed that a rescue by force was not a good idea because they were expecting a boat from Shetland to deliver a substantial cargo of large weapons and explosives to Austevoll and the planning for that landing required detailed planning and caution.  However, Jakob Hjelle would run the risk of losing the the supplies.  The question and the primary goal was how to  rescue the crew from the clutches of the Gestapo.

Helén rode back on his bike.  When he got to the guard post where he had been when he saw the plane, he saw the same guard on duty. Helén nodded to him, pointed in the air, and asked in German: “Dieses Flugzeug, Kein Fliegalarm, warum? (The airplane – no alarm – why?)”  

“Weiss nicht (Don't know)” replied the guard with a shake of his head.  The bicyclist wished him a good day before continuing on to Lønningdal.

While German officers studied maps of Os and the charts of the fjords to the west in an attempt to coordinate their many patrols, Jakob picked up up his fine carver's tool and returned to his workbench but could not for a moment stop thinking about what had happened.  Later in the day, he left his chisel and took a trip into town.

The weather was dreary and drizzly; the leaves on the hillside trees were turning yellow.  In Osøyri, there were long lines in the shops.  There was few supplies and everything was rationed. The only thing that there was always enough of was flour, and people ate porridge for dinner several times a week.  Otherwise, the menu was fish, herring, and fried cabbage, even if it consisted almost entirely of cabbage and potatoes.  

A group of soldiers  marched past the church on patrol.  Some of the soldiers had been been in the village so long they they would give a friendly greeting when the met the locals.  The responses were not as friendly – it was not very popular to be on nodding terms with the German soldiers.  

Ulven had been a prison camp for several years but was now mostly a training area for the occupation troops.  A bus headed out from a bus stop, struggled up a hill, heading for Indregardane, leaving a haze of smoke behind it long afterward.  It was a small bus, with passengers who were tired of standing in lines all day.

It was not just the lines and the lack of everything hat people were tired of, but the entire occupation.  They looked forward to the day when they would no longer by stopped by soldiers and have their passes checked.  The annoyances were of many kinds and could happen at any time.  They were subject to having their houses searched by soldiers rummaging through drawers and cupboards from attic to basement.  Perhaps worst of all was that they could not let off steam by complaining about the situation.  If a person was a not careful in choosing words when talking about Germans and Nazis, there was a risk of being taken in for interrogation.

But this day would be different for the people of Os.  There was only one subject of the semi-whispered conversations, and that was the fate of the crew of the plane that had descended from the heavens.

Jakob Hjelle  was lucky enough to run into Johan Viken, who was a courier between the resistance group in Os and their counterparts in Bergen.  Viken was an athlete and before the war had been a competitive high jumper.  He had worked for MilOrg for several years, but recently had started working for the XU intelligence unit.  Hjelle was one of his main sources of information in both roles.

They stood chatting outside a house, trying to look innocent, when they were interrupted by a young cyclist from Søre Neset who stopped and looked at them with an enormous grin.  
“They got away!”
He said that a big bomber had landed, using a grassy hill for a landing strip.  He explained that the farmer who owned the ground had long planned to plow it up, but now it was plowed without the farmer having to do anything.

When the youngster left, Jakob said to Johan:  “I think we need to get some men over there soon.”

Just then, a truck in green and gray camouflage, loaded with soldiers on benches with rifles sticking up between their knees, went past, groaning in first gear as it swung around a bend.  It was headed for Søre Neset, and was followed by two men on a heavy motorcycle, with the helmet of a third sticking up from its side-car.

Johan Viken had to go to Bergen that day and by the time he left Osøyri, neither he nor Jakob Hjelle had heard anything more.

The news that the aircrew had disappeared before the Germans arrived soon spread.  People's faces lit up as they heard the news.  Many forgot to keep poker-faced, they did not often have the opportunity to smile at the Germans' expense.  They were further encouraged because even in the vaunted war propaganda of the Germans, it was clear that the fortunes of war in Europe were not exactly in the Germans' favour.

Jakob Hjelle walked back home and tried to work, but it was slow going.  The question that bothered him most was what on earth had happened to the crew of the airplane. Søre Neset was not a large peninsula, just a few square kilometres, so it would not be hard for the Germans to cut off the entire area. Most likely, they  had already captured the crew.

INGEBORG AND MARTA

The Canadians had not gone not far from the landing site when they stopped for a few minutes and took off and hid their coats, flying helmets and goggles.  They took off their battledress jackets and folded them so that the “Canada” patch on the shoulder faced in.  They hurried on, but had little doubt that the Germans and anyone else who might see them would take them for what they were – six aircrew fleeing to avoid capture.

They went down sloping hills to a bay where some small boats with their bows in toward shore and their sterns tied to buoys.  When they had to cross a road, they looked both ways to make sure no one was in sight before crossing into the trees on the other side.  

They continued on in the direction they had been shown, making an effort to put as much distance as possible between themselves and the landing site, but it was slow growing in the juniper and heather bushes over very difficult terrain.  Sometimes they stopped and took a deep breath while they carefully looked back.  They more crawled than walked up a hillside because everyone thought it would be safer in the thick forest.  They stopped at a small stream and washed.

They crossed several creeks, the largest of which they waded along for a while, hoping that any dogs that would be set to follow them would lose their track.  No sooner had they returned to dry land than they hear a dog bark.  

They struggled up to the top of a hill where they saw a “Danger – High Voltage” sign in Norwegian and German.  They stopped there for a few minutes, looking at a map that Gordon Biddle had taken from an inside pocket.  The map was just a jumble of islands and peninsulas,  and it was not easy for strangers to the country to orient themselves quickly.

They found a clearing and followed it down to a bay.  Before they reached the water, they had to hide themselves flat in the heather, because two submarines surfaced and several camouflaged gunboats were patrolling near the shore.  One of the gunboats came very close to where they were lying until it was just a stone's throw away, but then it turned back out to sea and disappeared behind a headland.  

With the enemy so close in all directions, it was clear to Gordon Biddle and his five fellow countrymen that they were again in a pretty hopeless position.

They kept an eye on the boats through the trees while resting their sore and wet feet.  They had waded along streams and through puddles in the hope that it would be harder for the enemy to track them.

For the first time since the crash-landing, they talked a little about what had happened.  They hoped that the plane had been burned beyond recognition and that they had not overlooked anything that could be of use to the Germans.  They had all been through training courses that taught them what to do if they had to make an emergency landing on hostile territory.  In addition to setting the plane on fire, it was important to get as far away from the landing site as soon as possible, and to get rid of clothes that identified them as allied aircrew.

So far, they had followed their instructions to the letter.

When they had stood at the sign on the hill, they had wondered if they should divide themselves into three pairs or whether they should stay together for a while.  They chose the latter option.  They decided it was probably wise to stay in the woods above the bay until nightfall, when they would try to get in touch with the people the English-speaking man had told them about.

After they had followed a path up to a new hilltop, they got a good view of the entire wide fjord that they had flown over after crossing the coast.  They saw naval vessels even further away near  the islands on the south side of the fjord.  One was larger than the others and speeding east.  They were able to identify it as a destroyer.

On the way from the wreck, they had discussed the possibility that, if they hadn't been caught by night-time, they could steal a rowboat and attempt to sneak away from the site and reach the coast, but it was now clear to them that they had to rule out that option.

At a quarter to eight in the morning, Maurice Neil walked up a nearby hill and saw a small house nestled down by a bay.  Everything seemed so peaceful.

The navigator lit a cigarette, his first since midnight, and never had one tasted better.  Then he sat on a stone and thought of half-forgotten phrases from long-ago lessons about how to remain inconspicuous in foreign countries.  But how to stay undetected in Norway was not something he had been taught.  He knew that Quisling was the name of the self-appointed leader, that the country was full of steep snow-capped mountains, and that polar bears roamed the street of the northern cities, but that was all.

The sky lightened a bit right then, and high up on the other side of the fjord he could see through a break in the clouds a small portion of the glacier they had seen earlier.  Even in the grey weather, the glacier shone with a dull sheen.

He thought that they should seek help – the faster they could contact the locals the better.  He put out his cigarette and went back to the other to tell them what he was thinking.  They agreed and he offered to go and try to make contact with people.

The other hid behind a mound while the navigator went down a steep slope to the nearest farmhouse.  He disappeared from view, and they quietly waited several long minutes for him to appear again.  For all they knew, there could be Germans down there.

The only signs of life Neil saw when he approached the house was a cat that stopped in the yard and looked at him.  He waited a few minutes while he looked the place over, and then went up to the front door and knocked.  He heard a few sounds from inside, and then a middle-aged woman opened the door, with a younger woman standing behind her, perhaps her daughter.  The woman did not show anxiety, but just friendly curiosity.

Neil began to speak in English, but the two women could not speak English.  The younger one beckoned him to go with her to a neighbouring house where a woman who spoke English lived.

They would later learn that the English-speaking woman's name was Ingeborg and that she had worked as a nurse in the United States for several years, and that the young woman's name was Marta.  

The nurse did not immediately realize that the man she met was a real live (and bandaged) member of an Allied bomb crew.  As soon as she figured things out, she told him that they needed to stay hidden for a while and that there was a cave up on the hill where they had come from that would make a good temporary hiding place.  Marta could show them the way.  Ingeborg explained that even though she wanted to help them, there was little that she could do because she knew nothing of the underground movement.  She knew that it existed in the area, but was made up only of men.  She would talk to an acquaintance who lived nearby to see if he knew any way of contacting the underground or if there was any other way to find a means of escape.

After a long wait, the others saw Neil again walking with a woman.  He waved his arm, motioning them to come down.

Biddle showed her the map in the hope that she could point out where they were.  She was unable to do that, but said that they were on a fairly small peninsula.  

Marta had been standing by the house while they talked with Ingeborg, and she came over and motioned them to follow her.  Ingeborg went with them for a few feet and wished them good luck, promising to contact them later if she had a chance.

They set off back up the hill.  Marta managed the rough terrain so easily that they had to struggle to keep up with her.  Finally they reached the cave, which was more like a small depression in the terrain.  She pointed the way and then disappeared.

It has stopped raining for a while, but now it began to drip again, and soon they were wet to the skin.  Their feet were still soaking wet from walking through the streams.  They started shivering and freezing, and their courage sank again.  But they did not forget the German camp that the English-speaking man had mentioned.  One of them expressed the opinion hat they had no chance, but another mentioned the old saying, as long as there is life, there is hope.

Biddle had severe chills, perhaps because he had had a fever before they started their flight and perhaps as a reaction to the successful landing that had been his responsibility alone.  He lay down in the cave with chattering teeth.  In order to shield him against the rain and to give him a little warmth, the others held him.  The best thing for their chills would be a fire, but that was not an option.

Biddle slept for about half an hour around noon, and felt considerably better when he woke up.

They remained quiet at time passed.  While their immediate future did not seem bright, they were infinitely grateful that the forced landing had gone so well.  They ignored their cuts and bruises.  They knew that the all could have lost their lives.  They praised the Captain who had managed to land the machine in the unfamiliar and unforgiving terrain.  He didn't say much, and seemed a little embarrassed by what the others said.

A major goal for a soldier in the field is to sleep whenever an opportunity presents itself.  They sat with their backs to tree trunks and tried to get some sleep, but did not succeed.

With time, they calmed down a little.  As is often the case after a powerful experience, they each brought out different details about the crash-landing.  One could not forget that George Grandy had stuck to his post to send a final message just before they hit ground.  Another recalled how the Captain had barely avoided hitting a corner of a house with one wing.  A third was sure he would have to use his swimming skills  before it finally dawned on him that they had landed on solid ground.

But their circumstances were not very pleasant to think about.  Even if they were able to beat the formidable odds and return to England, it would be impossible to get back before the telegrams were sent out to their relatives back home in Canada reporting them as missing in action.  

WAITING

There was some truth to Helén Mowinckel Nilsen's observation that the Germans couldn't do anything without first lining up and marching in strict order, because it was a full two hours after Gordon Biddle's demonstration of landing technique before the Germans arrived.  Some had guns, some had machine guns, and some were unarmed.  Two tracking dogs were brought in a black Mercedes Benz.  In the middle of all the furor, a thunderstorm struck.  Soldiers chased the slightest hint of movement in the surrounding countryside.

They started searching the surrounding area.  About four hundred yards from the landing site, they found some fairly new ear-flaps and aviator goggles.  Two men came running with their find and gave them to an officer in riding breeches for examination.

All the people in the neighbourhood were rounded up into the old school house.  The interrogations took a sharp tone.  The Germans wanted to know what each person had seen.

Several had no doubt seen the crash, and there was little reason to deny it.  A quiet farmer explained that the plane flew like a crow.  

Bur all those in the interrogation room, the schoolteacher and all others replied that they had not seen the crew.  The crew had fled before the astonished crowd had time to assemble at the crash site.

The only thing that resembled a useful statement came from a woman with a black scarf around her head. She loosened the scarf enough to explain to the interpreter that she had seen some strangers after the flying machine had crashed into the ground.

“But I think maybe they took the bus” she said.  She was referring to rumours in circulation about the “North Sea Bus” (or Shetland Bus) that traveled between Norway’s west coast and Scotland, but neither the interpreter nor the German noticed the double meaning.

For three years it had been unlawful to have a radio.  The first thing Ingeborg did after her conversation with the unexpected guests was to hide her radio even better than before.

She consulted with her father, who never stood still when there was something to do, and was especially quick off the mark if it involved playing a trick on the occupation forces.  He immediately said that he would contact a young man who lived at Bjørnarøy, a half hour boat trip away.  He did not know if the young man was in the resistance, but it would not surprise him if he were.  In any case, he was a man they could trust.  

Neither father nor daughter knew that the guards at Halhjem had been ordered away the day before.  The father went with a neighbour, took a small boat and rowed towards Bjørnarøy.  They met a German patrol boat with guns fore and aft and an officer on the bridge.  They expected to be stopped and have their passes checked, but the boat just passed them by and continued on its own way.

The crew of the Wellington waited for darkness and kept looking at their watches.  Time seemed to move infinitely slowly.  They conversed at a whisper and looked through their emergency kits closely, because they did not know everything that was packed in them.  They were given them before each mission and they returned them unopened when they returned to base.  

Now they found several maps printed on silk and coated to be waterproof.  Besides the map of Norway, they had one of the Netherlands and one of France.  They had a first aid kit, and some French coins.  

The maps made them consider trying to head south.  Although it seemed far, birds migrated longer distances.  They know that throughout occupied Europe there were many well-organized networks that saved airmen who had been shot down.  They were brought stage by stage through forest and darkened City streets, from Netherlands through Belgium and France, the Pyrenees and Spain, and on to Gibraltar and eventually England.

But nobody had told them that the escape networks reached as far north as Norway.  They  believed that although it would be easier to try to reach Sweden than France, neither would happen without a lot of help from the local people.

Neil thought of how when he signed the final weather briefing, he had joked about plotting a route to Sweden, and now they were discussing the same option seriously.

The emergency kit contained tablets that would give them energy, others that would keep them awake, and water purifying tablets.  There was a small rubber bottle with water, a pocket compass, a small file, a razor, needles and thread, buttons and some basic medical supplies.

The only food they had was the energy pills, and they had to ration them.

One of them had had an orange in his pocket, but had given it to the girl who had led them to the cave.  Now he realized that having the orange might not be a good thing for the girl, because citrus fruit was not available in Norway at the time.

They scouted the nearby area, but were careful not to lose sight of each other.

In the afternoon, Marta showed up with a milk pail in her hand that she gave to Maurice Neil. She also brought lots of blueberries, but the crew were afraid to eat them for fear of becoming ill.  Marta put a handful in her mouth to demonstrate that they were not only edible, but good healthy food.   Their dinner was milk and blueberries, without much effect on their hunger.

Although they tried to cheer each other up, they all thought that sooner or later they would be arrested, and that any minute they would hear someone speaking German. It would be suicide to resist, because the only thing they had to defend themselves with was one pistol.

Later in the afternoon they got another think to think about for a while – Marta appeared again slipping quietly through the trees carrying basket with hot tea, freshly-made waffle cakes and eggs.  

Both Biddle and Death said, “God bless you” as she disappeared back into the trees.  Neil's spirits were so lifted by the hot drink and food that he cracked one of his jokes.  They all smiled even though they had heard it many times before.

As dusk approached, they talked about their first day on Norwegian soil, wondering what they would be able to do before the Germans found them.  It was amazing that they still had not been found.  

Early in the evening they were startled by a quiet “Good Evening,”  It was Ingeborg who had arrived so quietly and seemingly effortlessly that they wondered at and were comforted by her skills.  If she could move through the woods so easily, perhaps there was hope.  They gathered around her in a circle, and she told them that her father had gone out to one of the nearby islands to contact a person they believed to be in the “secret  army.”

She also told them that she had ridden her bicycle to look for another potential contact with the resistance, but could not find him.  When she returned home after the bike ride, she found a group of Germans near her house.  Their commander interrogated her, but of course she know nothing.  He spoke half German and half Norwegian.  He said that the residents of the area must be both blind and deaf, because none of them had seen any of the aircrew.

But the Germans knew better and knew all about the heavily armed “Englische soldaten.” The Germans know that they were hiding in the nearest hill, having found clues that led in that direction.  He made it clear that the entire peninsula was surrounded.  But he did not expect the “Englishmen” to surrender without a fight, and he saw no sense in risking the loss of his troops by sending them up into the woods in the dark.  The Germans would stay here at the house overnight and evacuate the residents at down before they troops went into action.

Ingeborg's eyes widened at the news, and tried to cover up by changing the subject.  While the commander was talking she found a bucket in the kitchen and showed it to him, saying that she wanted to go up to the hillside and pick blueberries for tomorrow's breakfast.  He generously gave her the go-ahead.  “You be vorsichtig (careful)”” he told her.

Ingeborg wished the Commandant a good evening and disappeared into the trees.  The Canadians had not expected to see her again, but they were wrong.
Otto van Schrader was the supreme commander of the Kreigsmarine in western Norway, headquartered in Bergen.  His formal title was Kommandierender Admiral der Norwegischen Westkuste.  When Bergen celebrated the end of the war in 1945, he took his own life in a bunker in the town of Sandviken.

The admiral's diary entry for September 26, 1944 was that a plane had made an emergency landing at Halhjem eight kilometres south of the center of Os.  The crew had escaped after they set the plane on fire.  The army had launched search operations, and naval units have been ordered to blockade Os from the sea.

ISLANDERS
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The quartet of Einar Evensen, Hans H. Holmefjord, Torvald Jakobsen and Magnus K. Røttingen all lived in the western part of Os in the area known as Øyane (the islands).   Like other young people from that area, they were referred to as øyaguttene or “Islanders.”  The sea is an essential part of life there, and the four had spent much of their time in boats so they knew every nook and bay and fishing hole for miles around.

In the hectic days of the German invasion in April 1940, Einar, Hans and Magnus went to Voss to fight the Germans.  They were assigned to Skjervet, where the Norwegians tried to stem the enemy advance from Granvin to Voss.  Both Einar and Hans were machine-gunners.

Later, when Einar was older he visited Skjervet and shared his remembrances with a group of senior officers and other interested listeners.  He said 'There was a lot of criticism of the Madsen machine guns, but they worked fine for me.”   

When the Norwegians could no longer resist the ferocious attack, Hans was one of those who remained and covered the retreat.  He was taken and held in Voss for a few weeks before he was released and returned home.

The four young men joined Jakob Hjelle's underground group early in the war.  Their initial tentative contact with England eventually developed into the full-scale weapons smuggling through Austevoll on dark nights.   Both Einar and Torvald were team leaders in the underground.

Several of the Norwegian workers who built the German base in Rottingatangane provided information to Magnus, who passed on the information to an underground courier.  There was often talk of a possible Allied invasion during the war, and Magnus provided information on good invasion sites.

Earlier in September 1944, Einar, Torvald and Magnus went on a trip to Austevoll where they hoped to buy a boat.  They were looking for a boat that was seaworthy enough to reach the Shetland Islands if the Germans learned of their underground activities.  But they were unable to find the right boat.

Einar's boat was a 30 footer that they had used so often during the occupation for their underground activities.  It had a top speed of six miles an hour and had a particularly unreliable engine.  One time it would start with no problem, and another time there would be no spark.

That same night, an allied ship managed to sink a German vessel in Korsfjord, and the three could see the confusion in the German forces as guard-boats chased back and forth.

On the way back, they were hailed by a German patrol boat.  When Magnus discovered that he had forgotten his pass, he swore up a storm.

As the guard boat glided up along side, Einar said:

“Can you check the engine and see what's wrong?”

Magnus dropped down the ladder and turned a valve which caused the engine to hammer something terrible.  A German dropped down on their deck.

Torvald was forward on deck and was checked first.  Then Einar offered the boat's papers and his personal pass.

The German muttered, “Alles in Ordnung” then came to the door to the engine compartment and peered down.  Magnus grinned at him, going two steps up that latter and moved a sweater that had been hiding a poster that said, “Collaborating with the enemy is punishable by death” and showed the poster to the German.  He then turned back to the valve again as if he were attached to it.  Einar caught a glimpse of Magnus's face and he had never seen anyone look so innocent.

 “Papers? Pass?” asked the German.

“No, he is “kaputt” said Einar, pointing his finger at his head.

“Kaputt, ach so.”

The guard boat backed away, and left Magnus in peace.

Einar lived at Bjørnarøy, a small idyllic place where only a few families lived.  He was the one that Ingeborg had decided to approach.  

On the morning of September 26, a few days after the boat trip, Einar sat at home reading a two-day old copy of a German propaganda newspaper.  It talked about strategic withdrawals on the Eastern Front, which Einar interpreted as meaning that the Russians were on the offensive.  He sipped a cup of ersatz coffee, but took a puff of real tobacco, which had been smuggled into Austevoll between layers of explosives.

Suddenly he heard an airplane.  Seconds later, he was able to make out the allied bomber rocking inward from the sea as it passed overhead and then disappeared.  He could tell both by the sound and by the motion of the aircraft that something was wrong.  It flew like an overloaded barge.  With the low-hanging grey cloud cover, it was amazing how low the plane was, barely scraping over the hills.  The most amazing thing was that with all the German targets, it did not fire a shot.

The big question that morning was what had happened to the plane.  If it landed in the sea, the crew would have little chance, and its chances were not much better in the forests.  There were hills around, and he hoped that the plane had made it to one of them, although the possibility of a fortunate outcome was slim even in that event.

Einar spent the morning wandering around, up in the hills and down again, around the boathouses and up and down the beach.  

New of less important things traveled fast around the islands, so he expected that sooner or later someone would show up with some news.  He looked around in all directions, hoping to see a boat approaching.  But he cursed softly to himself because there was no way to get even the slightest bit of information, even if the plane had crashed almost within arm's length.  The only thing he saw was a patrol boat with a swastika on its stern that came inland from Bjørnafjord, rounded Bjørnarøy, and then headed out again.

After two hours of searching, he turned homewards, hungry and looking for some food.  When he got home, he saw two people he knew from Bjørnen and as soon as he saw them he knew why they were here.  

They had told Einar's father what had happened.  The crew had been incredibly lucky to land on the tiny strip of grass.  They had then moved south to Bjørnatrynet, where they had contacted Ingeborg.  It was pure chance that she was at home; she traveled a lot and had been out until the previous evening.  Now the crew was hiding in the woods, but needed to get further away that night, if not sooner.

The men asked if it would be possible for the foreigners to take Einar's 30-foot boat so they could return to England in it.  Einar's father responded that they were welcome to the boat, but he was afraid that the engine was too unreliable to take into the North Sea, especially now, just a few days before October, when high seas and heavy winds were common on the North Sea.  Another question was whether the crew knew anything about marine engines.

Einar confirmed what his father had said.  Even if Einar went with them, they would not make it far past the Marstein light into the North Sea.  Ingeborg's father looked discouraged, but then straightened his back and said that if he had anything to do with it, the crew would be saved, because they had had come to his door.

Usually, it was absolutely forbidden to let outsiders know that you were a member of an underground organization.  But Einar had no other choice, and he let it be known, very vaguely, that he had connections. Because the crew had been fugitives for a good part of a day, something needed to be done.  Einar asked if they would let him take over.  If they did so, he would do everything in his power to prevent the Germans from getting them.  

Both men heaved a sigh of relief.  “I knew you wouldn't let us down,” said one of them.  

Before the two men left Einar, they all agreed to a time when Einar and some of his people would be at a particular creek at Bjørnatrynet to pick up the crew.

The person that Helén Mowinckel Nilsen thought of when he saw the Wellington bank over the Haugsneset base was named Magnus Hauge.  Hauge was in charge of the teams west of the salmon-rich Oselva river, while Jakob Hjelle was in charge of the teams to the east.  Magnus was responsible for collecting and distributing the weapons landed at Austevoll.  He was therefore the contact person among the various teams who organized the distribution of guns and supplies.  His farm was very close to Osøyri.  Between Magnus Hauge's farm and Osøyri was Mobergsvika, where the Germans had guns and bunkers.  Ragged Russian prisoners worked long and hard on the German installations there.

The incident with the plane had not escaped Magnus Hauge's attention – the plane flew right over his house, just a few meters over his roof.  As he ran out, the sound was so close and heavy he thought the plane would take out his chimney.
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Magnus Hauge (Seated)
He soon learned about the crash-landing and that the entire crew has made it away from the landing site.  

His farm lay on a slope just below the road, and throughout the morning he noticed one vehicle after another heading south loaded with soldiers.  He was so excited about the events that he did not notice he was hungry until his wife called him to his midday dinner.

While he was eating dinner, the phone rang, and when he lifted the receiver he immediately recognized the voice of Johan Viken, the XU courier.
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The telephone was known to be a risky instrument of communication about sensitive topics – under the occupation the dreaded Gestapo frequently listened to conversations.  Members of the underground avoided the phone as much as possible.  When the phone was needed to convey urgent messages, they spoke in code and never called anything by its real name.  

They used agricultural terms that people could have taken literally, but Johan made it clear that it was vital that they get hold of the crew before the Germans caught them.  He said that it had been very difficult to find potatoes, and he hoped that the farmer could help him solve that problem.

Magnus replied that there were not many potatoes available, and that he himself had very few.  There were so many restrictions on agricultural production these days, and mandatory delivery to the Germans, that there was little left for sale.  But he would go to his cellar and check what he had.  If he could spare a sack or two, he would call back.  It was a serious Magnus that hung up the phone.

He had just finished dinner when the phone rang again, seemingly even more loudly than normal.  He heard the deep bass voice of one of his men, Einar Evensen, asking to talk with him later in the day.  

“I need advice from a farmer,” Einar growled, adding a comment that he had asked before and that he needed an answer now.  Magnus said he was sorry and promised loud and clear that he would not have to wait longer.  “I am sorry that I have made you wait so long,” he said.

Einar often said things jokingly, as he did with Magnus in that conversation, but Magnus had heard the serious undertone in Einar's voice.

DOWN TO THE SEA

After Einar's Evensen's phone call with Hauge, he went to speak with the same friends that had accompanied him on the fruitless journey to Austevoll, and another comrade, Hans H. Holmefjord.  None of them backed down when he told them of the crew and asked if they would participate in the action.

“I wouldn't miss it,” said Torvald, who was the oldest.

“Finally something real to do,” commented Hans.

Magnus, who worked at a nearby oyster farm, just nodded quietly.

“This time, don't forget your passport,”  Einar reminded him.

They had to calculate the chances of success for their various options.  They discussed all the buildings where it might be safe to hide the crew until the commotion died down.  They considered all the boathouses on the wharves in the area, and one of them suggested a coastal tramp steamer that was at anchor in need of major repairs, but after a long discussion, this idea was voted down 3-1.  They thought that boats and boathouses would at the top priorities for the German search.

Then one of them had an idea that seemed more brilliant the more they discussed it.   MilOrg groups had previously used a boathouse on Strøno Island for training and weapons instruction.  It was a building of a type that combined boathouse and cabin, often called a cottage.  It was across a narrow fjord from the German camp at Rottingatangane.

A Getreiter (German corporal) had taken over the building, but a few days earlier he had gone to Germany on leave.  The corporal had been in Norway long enough that he could make himself understood.  A Norwegian had befriended the corporal, giving him salmon and lobster.  Before going on leave, the corporal gave the key to the cottage to the Norwegian, who was a member of Einar's underground unit.

“You can use the radio, so long as you don't listen to England, and make sure no one uses the main house while I'm in Hamburg,” he had said.  He would be away for a month.

They figured the place might usable for a few days, because the Germans probably would not be too interested in investigating a cottage that had been commandeered by one of their own.  Another factor in favour was that the German activities in the surrounding woods had lessened in the last few months.

However, their task was awkward.  English had not been on the curriculum when they were in school, and they had not learned any since.  Torvald remembered that  a grey-haired Norwegian-American lived at Oyane.  The  man complained  constantly about his fate.  He had been on a visit to Norway just before the occupation and now could not return until the Germans were chased into the sea. The Islanders knew that this Norwegian-American referred to the Germans as bandits and scoundrels and therefore thought that there was no risk in involving him.  

The next question was whether they should use one motorboat or two rowboats.  The motorboat of course was faster, but there was a greater chance it would be discovered and stopped.  The deciding factor in favour of rowboats was that you could hear things from them.

Shielded by a warehouse, they prepared to set out that evening, with fishing gear clearly visible in their boats, winding rags around their oars to muffle them.   A young boy suddenly appeared and asked what the rags were for.  Torvald explained that the fish had been so frightened by all the shooting and noise today, that they were scared by the slightest noise.  This was an idea that the boy wanted to talk about with his father because the two of them had been out all evening and hadn't even got the slightest nibble.

It remained overcast and drizzling into the evening.  Overcast and drizzle could be annoying when it lasted a week or two in a row, but now it was an answer to a prayer.

At nine o'clock were finally ready to go. They had Os-type rowboats, of a type that dated back to long before the time that Harald FairHair had led his greybeards in the battle of Hafrsfjord. It has a reputation for being so easy to row that you can row it with a spoon.

Einar rowed one of the boats and Torvald the second and larger boat.  The two of them had the reputation in the Islands of being the most powerful rowers.  When they went out in racing sculls and rowed along the shore pulling on the oars with all their force, they moved so fast that some motorboats couldn't pass them.

That evening, no one saw anything unusual in Oselve.  The sea was the main road here.  People used boats to visit neighbours or to go to the shops in Vedholmen, and fished all the time.  

The two boats kept their distance from each other, as Magnus had planned, so that the Germans would not “smell a convoy.”

Wearing pre-war sou'westers, they set out from shore headed to a small island at the edge of Bjørnafjord.  Along the way the only living thing they saw was a flock of birds over the capes.  The water was smooth for a while, but, as usual, a cool wind soon started blowing inland from the southwest and stirred up the surface of the sea.

One of the rowboats stopped in an inlet in the island.  In the other, Torvald and the Norwegian-American rowed in the remaining five hundred meters to Bjørnatrynet.

The persistent rain had soaked the clothing of the crew who were huddled together but still half-exposed to the rain.  Gordon Biddle had recovered.  While it had been light, crows and sometimes other birds had flown over the treetops, but now that it was dark no birds were flying.

There was absolutely no improvement in the weather.  To the contrary, it began to hail while a cold wind whistled through the woods.  They froze more than before, but did not slap themselves or jump around because they did not dare make noise.  They stood silently in the dark.  They all startled when they heard the sounds of people approaching them.

It was “only” Ingeborg, accompanied by a man.  She asked them to follow immediately.  The two Norwegians went ahead, and the Canadians followed in single file.  They did not follow a path, but just wound their way among the trees and rocks, and the rain and darkness made it harder to move along.  They tried to stay close to each other and avoid making noise, but that was hard over the slippery rocks.  One of them caught a foot in a root and went sprawling.

A half-hour later they took a two-minute rest at a steep west-facing slope that led down to the sea.  They could hear waves rippling against the shore.  Ingeborg whispered that they were going down there, but they had to be careful because patrols boats often came close into shore.  From time to time strong spotlights would sweep along the shore.  The all huddled down near a flat rock.  Ingeborg told them that this is where they would be picked up.  

The crewmembers became more and more nervous, not least because two navy boats passed by barely a hundred meters away every few minutes.  There was no doubt that the German commander had been telling the truth when he told Ingeborg that the entire peninsula was blockaded.  Visibility increased over the fjord for a moment and they could see the outline of a patrol boat that crossed back and forth nearby before another squall again reduced visibility.

After an hour had passed and no naval vessels or patrols boats had been seen for a while, a rowboat appeared out of the rain.  Ingeborg saw it first.  It came up to the land as quietly as a duck and stopped with the starboard side against the shore.  A man stood up in the stern and in a hushed voice said in English:

“Please come on board, boys.”

The man who had accompanied Ingeborg had not said a word all night.  Despite his quiet, the Canadians did not forget to thank both Ingeborg and him for everything they had done for them.  The Canadians then boarded the rowboat one by one.

One was shown to the bow, another to the stern.  Two of the Canadians sat on a bench close to the rower, and the remaining two sat on a bench in the back near the man who had invited them on board.  

With eight grown men on board, the rowboat settled low in the water.  

The rower waited quietly at the oars while everyone listened hard.  There was no sound other than the waves, and no boats in view.  The rower put the oars in the water and pulled.

The crew members waived to their two guides on land, who waved back at the rowboat until they were engulfed by darkness.  

The guides returned to their homes.  The German soldiers were so busy with their preparations that the two both managed to sneak unnoticed into their homes.
“FEELING BETTER NOW?”

The pilots could not hear a single creak of the oars, even though the rower pulled long on the oars, but then saw the rags and understood that the oars had been muffled.

The Norwegians had not uttered a single word, they were completely focused on bringing them in one piece across the half kilometre of the strait.  The visibility was minimal.  The passengers could not seem much beyond the waves breaking white on the sides of the boat.  There was so little free board that waves splashed right over the gunwale.

In quiet moments at the barracks, the Canadians had exchanged ideas about what could happen to them if they were ever forced down in occupied area, but they had never imagined a scene like the ones they were now experiencing.  Here, they had been handed over to unknown persons who literally emerged from their darkness and whose faces they had not yet seen properly.

Before taking off from Wick, they had joked that they would not return to their squadron this time, and just over a day later they were in a rowboat in a black night in a Norwegian fjord attempting to avoid capture.

George Death and Harvey Firestone sat closest to the man rowing the boat.  They were so close to hims that they had to keep their knees out to each side so as to not keep knocking into his knees.  Co-pilot Death said in a very quiet voice that he hoped that he would not be seasick. Firestone responded that the sea did not bother him and that the rain trickling down his neck was worse.  It certainly reminded them of the persistent drizzle in Scotland.

The Norwegian who had invited hem on board and was sitting right behind them must have understood what they were talking about, because he got up, took off his raincoat and spread it over their heads.  Before he sat down, he bent forward and asked in American English with a Brooklyn accent:

“How's that Bud, feeling better now?”

“Yes.  Thanks.  Much better.” replied the copilot.

They had rowed a scant fifteen minutes when they glided into a sheltered inlet.  The rower turned the boat and headed them towards towards another rowboat waiting there.   The passengers were not aware of it until they were right beside it.  Two men sat on benches in the other boat, and one man was standing in the middle of the boat.  It was obvious they were waiting expectantly.  They hoped-for meeting had occurred, and everything so far had gone  according to plan.  

Both boats were rowed to shore.  The Canadians were sitting while three Norwegians stood on land exchanging a few words among themselves. The apparent leader among those who had been waiting for them said through the interpreter that half of the crew needed to transfer to the other boat.  The Norwegians had discussed how to distribute the passengers so that the weight would be balanced between the boats.

As soon as everyone took their places, the rowers put their oars to water.  In the meantime, the wind had calmed.  The rain had stopped, so they could now see considerably further than before.

They snaked their way among several islands, fairly close to the shore at times and further out to sea at others.  The men at the oars rowed rhythmically for a long time.  With six men in one boat and five in the others, they were never able to go very fast.  For a long time no one said a word.  Just when Harvey Firestone was hoping that the were arriving at their destination, although he hadn't the slightest idea where they were going, they swung away from land and headed straight out into the fjord again.

“We are half-way,” whispered the English-speaker into his ear reassuringly.  One of the men in the lead rowboat suddenly saw a patrol boat that was lying silently sheltered by an island.  It was one of the smaller style patrol boats and was sitting about a few hundred meters from them.

It was rare for a German naval boat to be so far into strait, but the local people sometimes saw seven or eight of them in the ¾ mile stretch between Bjørnatrynet and Strøno. 

“We hope that they don’t have night binoculars on board, but that may be a futile hope,” said Einar.

The rowers stopped rowing for a short while while eleven pairs of eyes stared at the patrol boat.  They could hear that it had a multi-cylinder engine.  Then someone took the helm and the boat turned and headed out at a slow speed heading west out into the fjord.  The rowers then were very happy that they had not risked taking a motorboat.

The rowboats moved stealthily further, hugging the coast line not more than two oars-lengths from the shore.  For those who know the area well, this is safe.  The riskier part of the journey is when they had to cross over two fjords, even thought they were narrow.  A sharp eye can spot a rowboat in the dark out on a fjord, there is always some light at sea.  But when a rowboat glides along the shadows of land, it is virtually impossible to see with the naked eye. 

They waited for a while before heading into a branch of the fjord and again before passing Bjørnarøy but no other vessel was to be seen or heard.

Both Einar's mother and father, who was a marine pilot, but especially the pilot, had long wondered what Einar was doing.  He would be gone all week before the sun rose.  He could not possibly make a living only with fishing, boating, engine repairs and spending time with his friends.  The pilot wondered about the classic sins: women, cards and drink, but his better half took a more reasonable view.  

“Just wait, Kristian,” she said, “everything will be clear one day.”

He admitted to himself and to his wife that she was right when Einar told the men from Bjørnen that he had connections. 

They had gone to bed at the usual time this Tuesday evening, but had not slept a wink.

As usual, Einar had not said anything when he left that afternoon, but this time they both knew what he was doing.  They understood that the only chance for the aircrew was to get away from Bjørnatrynet before the next daybreak.

Long after midnight they just lay there and started chatting. Kristian got up, dressed in wooden clogs and a raincoat and strolled outside.  

Although he was aging (he had turned 70 that year), his eyesight was still excellent.  He stood on a hill from which he could see north and south on the fjord but could not be seen himself. The night was peaceful at the moment without any sounds of planes, and the only boat sounds were in the far distance.

When he had stood there motionless for half an hour, he finally saw two rowboats coming out of the shadows of the islands to the east.  They came very slowly, hugging the shore on the west side of the channel.  He watched them until they were out of sight, continued to watch for a while, and then went inside to bed.

“All well so far, Pernille,” he said to his wife.

The rowboats had been at sea for another 15 to 20 minutes after they had passed Bjørnarøy when they slipped into a narrow and secluded pool.  They had reached a larger island where they veered to starboard and continued along the shore.  The aircrew could see a faint light from a door that opened and closed in a building a few steps up from the water's edge.  Outside the building stood a dark figure, probably a sentinel, but the boats passed by it and continued on for some distance.  Either he didn't see them, or he took them for island folk on their way home from fishing.

They were rowing between two islands.  The two islands were linked by a bridge.  The Germans regularly crossed the bridge going to and from their base at Rottingatangane.  A guard detachment was quartered in a house with views of the bridge and down to the sea.

The guard detachment did knot have to know about the aircrew to be suspicious about rowboats in a particularly sensitive area.  The rowboats stopped a few meters short of the bridge.  The passengers could see land on both sides of the boat and realized that they were in a narrow channel.  The bridge was visible against the night sky, as was a figure that strode over it and walked away.

They waited motionless for a couple of minutes.  When no other people could be seen on land,  Hans and Magnus stepped out onto the shore.

They moved stealthily up to the bridge and the lookout.  They were gone for a quarter hour, a seemingly endless time, when one returned and reported that everything seems clear, while the other continued to look in the area around the bridge.

The Canadians were shivering with excitement.  They had been amazed by the power of the rowers.  They sound of the wind in the tree leaves was louder than the sound of the sea on the sides of the boat.  There was no light in the street or in the surrounding houses.

The rowboats went on a few hundred meters then again turned back to the shore.  One stopped at a large rock and the person who had continued to scout the area appeared and stepped quietly on board.

They had still to cross the large bay at Vedholmen before going through another narrow passage and then their final leg across a fjord.  A few fathoms south of the mouth of the passage, they again stopped and waited by a large black rock, just outside the entrance to a channel.  They heard the sound of a motor in the direction they had come from.  They heard a boat head down the passage and head up unto the bay.  Even before they see it, the Norwegians recognized the boat by the sound of its single-cylinder “dunk-dunk” engine.  It was a boat that belonged in the islands, not some foreign craft.

“Twenty horsepower,” as Magnus said when he described that night many years later.  The boat hove to across from a rock.

The rowboats continued, and slowly but surely a black wall came into view ahead.  The Canadians were informed that the are finally arriving at their destination.  They have been at sea for about two hours.

The rowers keep in close to the steep shore, with an island between them and the open fjord.  They finally lift their oars, while the Norwegian-American tells the Canadians that they will be staying at the house here.

FIRST DAY AT STRØNO

From the boat, the group stepped over the slippery rocks and through the moss and heather to the boathouse.  Inside, the interpreter informed the Canadians that they were to go up into the attic.  One of the Norwegians stood guard outside, and another two set up a ladder into the attic.  

The blackout curtain was thoroughly checked before one of the men struck a match and lit an oil lamp on the table.  Only then could they really see each other.  They smiled and nodded while Einar passed around cigarettes.  They are Norwegian war-time cigarettes, just in case.  “Not too bad” commented one of the Canadians after a couple of puffs.

The interpreter in his Brooklyn accent informed the Canadians that the Germans had imposed strict blackout restrictions, and imposed strict and meaningless punishments for violations any time they spotted even the slightest bit of light at a window.  He continued:

“Plenty of Germans in this area, you see patrols night and day.”

“We've got the impression that there must be some around,” replied Gordon Biddle with Anglo-Canadian understatement.

The interpreter told them that the island they were on now was about three miles long and half a mile wide.  They were briefed on what to do the next few days.  The Germans had previously used this area, and a non-commissioned officer still had his quarters here, but he was now on leave in Germany.  Enemy sentries were posted close by.  On the island across the fjord-arm a few hundred meters away they would be able to see gun emplacements when it became light.

They could stay in the boathouse at night, but just before daybreak they would have to go up into the woods and not return again until dark set in.  A tarp would be provided to protect them from rain and wind.  The Norwegian-American made sure they understood the plan and promised that someone would try to come back with food that night, and then the Norwegians left.  

The Canadians' first long day on Norwegian soil was finally over.

The Islanders took care to set their trolling lines when they left Strøno, and spent some time rowing around in shallow water and landed enough fish to fill a bucket.  When they split up and went to their homes, they all agreed that they had been incredibly lucky, especially to not be challenged by the guard on the bridge.  

“Maybe they saw us, but cared only about their responsibility,” murmured Torvald, referring to the fact that the guards on the bridge were Army, who were responsible for things on land, while the Navy was responsible for anything on the water.  

When the Norwegians were gone, the crew looked around.  There were two narrow beds, one in the north and the other on the south wall.  There was a table and chair in front of a window that faced west.  There was a small shelf at each bed with books in Norwegian and German.  It was all very simple, but it felt good to finally have a roof over their heads.

They agreed that they were going to try to sleep right away, while one kept guard.  They had only a short time to sleep, because it was already well past midnight and they needed to scramble up the mountain before it got too light.

Harvey Firestone had not had any sleep since six o'clock in the morning of September 25 , so by now had been awake for 40 hours, but he took the first watch.

Two men were on the bunks and the other three lay on the hard floor.  Harvey sat in the chair by the window.  The oil lamp had been put out, so he opened the blackout curtains.  It was still so dark outside that he could not see anything.

Harvey had been in a plane crash before.  It had happened while he was in training in Nova Scotia.  Aircrews usually have some superstitions, just like ship captains who find all sorts of excuses to avoid setting sail on a Friday.  Aircrew thought it was bad luck to have any one other than the crew on board during a flight.   During the training flight, a British lieutenant had flown with them to evaluate how they worked together as a crew. They did not doubt their own competence, and they hoped that the lieutenant would have few negative comments.    

The plane had just taken off when the plane began to have severe problems.  Harvey sat by the radio, and when he looked out he could see the right wing vibrating like a discarded newspaper in a storm.  The engine on that wing was flung from its mount.  The plane hit the ground with its right wingtip first, caught fire, and tumbled for a hundred meters before it stopped.  Two men in the rear of the plane, including the British lieutenant, were able to get out, but the pilot, navigator and Harvey were trapped in the front section because the door was jammed in the twisted fuselage.  They tried desperately to open it, but in vain.  The plane was engulfed in flames and the heat was unbearable.  The gas tanks were filled to the brim because they had been headed out over the Atlantic to hunt submarines, and the plane was loaded with live ammunition and depth-charges.  Ammunition started to go off because of the flames and heat.  Tracers were whizzing past their heads as they struggled to open the door.  They could not reach the escape hatch because it was beyond the wall of flames that surrounded the nose section of the plane.

There was little room to get any momentum to push against the door, so they grabbed each other and all kicked it together.  It finally popped open on the third attempt.  They scrambled out onto the ground and ran as fast as they could towards an ambulance that had stopped about a hundred meters away.  Firetrucks were even farther away, because the drivers thought that the depth-charges and fuel tanks would explode.  Harvey and the others were almost to the ambulance when they were bowled over by the explosion of the depth charges.  

They got back on their feet and looked back to the plane that was now just one big bonfire.  The ambulance driver held the door open and shouted for them to jump in so that he could take them to the hospital.

None of the crew were badly injured.  Harvey had some bruises, a minor burn on his left arm and hand, and a sore knee that caused him to limp around for a few days.
  After ten days he was healthy again.  The lieutenant was the most seriously hurt.  He was in shock and remembered nothing of the crash.  He was patched together in the hospital and then sent home to England.  Harvey never learned who he really was.

While Harvey was sitting in the boathouse attic, he thought of everything that had happened in the last day, especially the quiet way the crew had all worked together.  On board the plane no one had panicked, even though they all had reason to.  The landing in the tiny open space on the hillside without flipping over was incredible.  They had the good fortune to all be able to walk away from the crash.

He also thought that their trip by rowboat had gone well.  He was aware that they could have expected grisly punishment if caught by the Germans.  He had to wonder if the apparently helpful Norwegians were in fact Germans or working for Germans because it was very strange that no one in all that time had stopped the rowboats, even though they passed right under the noses of at least a couple of guards.

He did not like these thoughts, because the women they had first met and later the rowers gave absolutely no impression of being anything like that, but both life and war had taught him that wishes must yield to realistic observations.  Their teachers in escape training, who themselves had escaped from enemy territory, had mentioned a trick that German intelligence had often used successfully.   The Germans would have collaborators and informers offer to help people escape from occupied territory, gain their trust and learn valuable information from them before turning them in.

Harvey hoped that his suspicions were completely unjustified and that their new friends were really what they appeared to be – brave loyal Norwegians who were doing their best to help in the battle against the common enemy.  

The minutes passed quickly.  He woke Maurice Neil, who took over the guard.  Harvey took his place in the bed and slept like a rock.

Stretching and yawning, they left the boathouse a couple of hours later.  The went down the stairs and across a small wooden ramp that was set just above the high tide mark.  A path led from the bridge along he lake to the right a few yards, then left.  Although it had stopped raining, heavy clouds hung over them.  They say a bigger building, more like a barracks.  It had windows, and although the rowers had assured them that there was no one in the area, they bent low as they sneaked past the windows before continuing up into the woods. 

It was a little after five in the morning and no one was in sight.  They felt more confident.  They found something that at least resembled a path.  Half an hour later they were well into the forest and engulfed among the trees and foliage.  They found a spot that they thought would be secure.  They tied the tarpaulin to some spruce trees to make a lean-to and curled up under it.

The sky slowly lightened in the east, and between the trees they could see across to the island that the interpreter had mentioned.

They soon were startled by the sound of guns.  It seemed quite close and sounded like heavy artillery.  Later they learned that the fortress, among other things, had both anti-aircraft batteries and heavier guns, and that the gunners had firing drills in the early morning.  Their Wellington would have clearly been visible from the fort when it came inland from the sea, and they had to wonder why the batteries at the fort had not opened fire.

They filled the time with small talk, while studying the landscape around them as far as visibility allowed.  It consisted of hills and mountains in the east, south and west, with long ridges of varying height.  

Now and then they took an energy pill, but hoped that the Norwegians would be able to bring them some food that night, as they had promised.

After darkness fell, they sneaked back to the boathouse.

SIX SACKS OF POTATOES

Although the aircrew were in uniform, there was no guarantee that their lives would be spared if the Germans found them.

MTB 345 was a motor torpedo boat that was newer and smaller than the others that operated on the the Norwegian coast from the Shetland Islands.  It sank in Solund that summer, and although the crew of six Norwegians and one Briton were in regular naval uniform, they were shot under direct orders from Adolf Hitler's headquarters.  The decision was contrary to international law.  The execution took place at Ulven, a few kilometres as the crow flies from the place the Canadians were hiding.  It was Kommandant Admiral of the Norwegian west coast, Otto von Schrader, who was in charge of the hunt for the Canadians, who had handed over the captured sailors from the MTB 345 to the Sicherheitdienst.  

The head of the execution squad of the security police in Bergen was SS Obersturmfuhrer Erwin Lang.  During the trials after the war, he testified that the Gestapo believed that the plane had arrived bringing equipment to underground troops, and that immediately after the landing the aircrew would head west to get back to Britain.

The Germans made an all-out effort to catch the aircrew.  They searched the countryside and at the same time had cars and trucks racing around the villages in search of the crew.  There were motorcycles and a large number of infantry on foot, especially in the area around the landing site.  There were dogs and all the soldiers that could be mustered up within Fortress Os.  They set up roadblocks and questioned everyone they saw, even little old ladies on the way to the store. Boats continually circled Bjørnafjord, and some crossed over to Austevoll and circled the islands there.  The walls and pillars of the towns were covered with posters warning of the consequences of giving any aid to the pilots.  Anyone providing help to them would be shot.

Magnus Hauge bicycled over to the Islands to meet Einar Evensen.  He saw soldiers everywhere.  A helmeted sentry with a machine pistol and grenades stopped him at an intersection.  

“Pass,” he demanded.

“Not again,” replied Magnus.

His little bluff let him pass through after the soldier took only a quick glance at Magnus's pass.    Magnus had to swerve to the side of the road right up against a rock wall to avoid a speeding  black car with two German officers in the front.  

As he approached the sea, he saw a patrol boat move slowly around a bay a few meters from shore, while another was patrolling around one of the small islands.

Einar strolled up and down on a pier and was visibly relieved when he saw his company commander.  He pulled Magnus into a weather-beaten shed and gave a status report.  The aircrew was in hiding in Strøno, but could not stay long there without being discovered.  They could perhaps be transported to Austevoll, but he did not like the idea of crossing Bjørnafjord this soon.  The Germans had increased their monitoring of boat traffic on the fjord, and Einar did not have many underground connections there.  He knew that patrol operations in the islands were quite frequent already.  If they wanted to try an option like that, they had to send a courier to Bergen to talk with those who had connections with Austevoll so that things on the receiving end of any transfer could be organized.  

Magnus agreed that the best thing would be for the crew to stay hidden somewhere in Os.  In any case, they had to be moved, and the sooner the better.  Einar said that it was important for Magnus to get in touch with “higher powers.”

They were interrupted by soldiers who looked in and wanted to know what they were doing in the shed.  Einar explained that they were going fishing.  “Fischen gehen” were two of the few words he knew in German.  One of the soldiers was smoking, and Einar, with a hopeful look on his face extended his hand as if he were smoking.  It was not often that the occupiers had encountered any willingness to communicate by the Norwegians, to the contrary, they were being used to being given the cold shoulder.  So the soldier took out his cigarette package with a “naturlich” and handed one over.  He and the other soldiers said  “wiedersehen” and disappeared around the nearest corner.

On the return trip, Magnus had to go by the same sentry, who just gestured with his thumb that Magnus could pass.  When he got home again, he called Johan Viken:

“Whether you believe it or not, I have managed to fill up six sacks of potatoes,” he said, “and of unusually fine quality.”  The sacks had to be picked up as soon as possible.

Johan took the shortest route to Troppabakken and Jakob Hjelle and asked if Hjelle and his cover group would be able to take the airmen until further notice.  But where was there a reasonably safe place for them?

Jakob said that there had to be someplace in the forest around the Indregardane.  Lange-Johannes had a place in Lønningdal just in case one might be needed in a situation like this. 

After that had considered various options for moving from one place to another, they finally agreed that the simplest might be for a couple of the Islanders to take them by boat across Bjørnafjord.  The Germans did not spend much time in the woods in the Lønningdal area, and it should be possible to find a way into this expanse of forest.

The Canadians would initially go east, not west.  It wouldn't be a bad idea, they thought, because the Germans undoubtedly thought that the Canadians would try to head out to sea.

“That's probably what I would think,” commented Jakob.

He got on his bike and pedaled for an hour over to Lønningdal to report to Helén Mowinckel Nilsen and discuss the next step.  

The both thought that it would be best to put the airmen in some new buildings in Botnane, which is on a ridge that separates the kommunes of Os and Samnanger.  

In the evening the two of them were sitting in a cabin and discussing further plans.  Like everyone else in the underground, their greatest fear was the Gestapo.  The aircrew had found a way to contact an underground group, and the information was passed from quietly from man to man.  Active underground members had learned from the first few years of the occupation to communicate carefully.  Jakob mentioned an episode from the hectic early days.  An underground newspaper, All for Norway, was produced at a boathouse in Lønningdal, by its far-left editors.  One day the editor came strolling up from the boathouse after finishing a new edition, he met a half-grown boy he didn't know who looked at him curiously and asked: “When does the paper come out?”

One method adopted by the underground was the broken contact, or cutout.  How it worked was that any member would have only two links to other persons – one person above and one person below in the hierarchy.  Dead-letter drops, leaving a message in a particular location, such as in a corner of a particular barn, and not knowing when or who would pick it up, were also used.  If someone were to be arrested, it would be harder for the Gestapo to conduct a big roundup because even a tortured prisoner couldn't give names he didn't know.   But in a small community like Os, it was not always easy to live by the rules.  

How much time the two organizers had spent with chess is better left unsaid, but Helén fully understood when Jakob said that he had the same feeling after finishing a game after his queen had been swept off the board.  

Fully clothed, they each stretched out on a bench for the night, both with a gun ready. 

Early the next morning Jakob started organizing supplies.  It was quickly done for both the food supplies and security services could be mobilized by a simple signal.  But he had to find more sleeping bags than they had at their disposal and more clothing.

In the fall of 1944, some boys in Os had been conscripted into the German Labour Service.  Some way out was sought.  Jakob and his people took care of them, hiding them in the Lønningdal area.

People had remained in hiding there, and the same forests were used for training MilOrg troops. The forest had also been used for communications between Osøyri and Lønningdal,  but its usefulness would likely be decreased after the “visit” of the Canadians – the Germans were increasing their control of the area.  They stopped people at all hours, examining their passes, including those who were bringing messages to Jakob and his inner circle. 

That fall there had been a significant improvement in the underground's communication system.  With the assistance of a MilOrg specialist they built an 11 mile phone line with four connections.  Thanks to good contacts, they were able to obtain equipment from the Os telephone stations and the air defence warehouse in Bergen.  The lines was independent, separate from the telecommunications network, and was completed on September 20, a week before the Canadians' emergency landing.  

By a courier who had conveyed the information among his group, Jakob was told that one of the German dogs had been on the scent of the Canadians heading down to the bay in Bjørnatrynet, followed by soldiers with machine guns, but the dog had lost the scent. 

Helén tried to guide the groups under his command, but let them do their work in their own way.  He and Jakob, his faithful right-hand man, had organized young women to put together ration boxes of food to take to people in hiding.  They now used those women to spread rumours that there had been eight commandos on board the plane.

Helén heard that the rumour quickly reached the Germans and he believed that the deception had served its purpose, because he heard that they were being more cautious.  They increased the number of men in each patrol, and kept closer together, and as a result could cover less ground.

After Einar Evensen had spoken with Magnus Hauge, he rowed to Vedholmen.  One of the larger guard boats was tied up at the dock with its motor idling.  A crowd of sailors stood in a circle on the dock and talked together.  Germans who had been in the country for a while often had learned some basic Norwegian.  Einar preferred talking with sailors rather than with soldiers.  The sailors were somehow freer, and more than once they had given him a packet of cigarettes, but this day they didn't pay attention to him or any Norwegian.  They spoke with low voices and serious faces, and he had no doubt what they were talking about.  Suddenly an alarm signal sounded and the sailors all leaped aboard.  The lines were pulled in, the guard boat slipped away from the pier and headed out through the strait.

Inside the store, all breathed more freely now that the sailors were gone.  The conversation centered on the plane and those who had been on board.  All agreed that the airmen could not make it by themselves, given their present situation.  One had heard that the last anyone had seen of them was that they had disappeared in the direction of Bjørnen and Bjørnatrynet.  And they could not keep it up long if they were still there.  Einar joined the chorus – he was very afraid that the Germans were going to encircle them very soon.

He was relieved when he got back in the boat. One could never know whether someone had seen something, but it was very clear that no one had seen anything the night before and no one had the slightest clue as to what had happened after the Canadians left the crash-site.

Home in Bjørnarøy, he worried about his mother and father.  They knew what he was doing, even if they did not know the details.  He did not want either of them to share the consequences of what might happen.

UNDER THE LEAN-TO

One day became two days and the Germans still groped in the dark.  Einar Evensen and his comrades tried to sift through and evaluate all the rumours and claims that were going around.  But there was no sign that the rumours were based on anything other than the pure speculation that was rampant during the occupation.  

They and others of their group observed the Germans combing the countryside with troops and the seas with boats, but the search had not reached Strøno.  Einar was in no way a man of the cloth, but when the Germans did not seem interested in Bjørnarøy, he began to wonder if Someone was taking care of everything.

It was not just the local soldiers from Fortress Os who participated in the search.  A German who had been stationed in Bergen said after the war that all available German manpower in the Bergen peninsula had been recruited for the search.  At its most intense, the search involved several thousand Germans.  

During the daytime, Gordon Biddle and his crew managed as best they could.  They spent long stretches of time out in the forest, but for the most part did not stray too far from the lean-to.  They did not keep completely dry, because the tarpaulin was old and worn out.  Despite this, their morale remained high.  They watched the patrol boats nose their way around the small islands.  They say signal lights, but so far no boat showed any interest in the island they were on.  Screaming seagulls circled over the water, and dove down to the surface to catch fish in their bills.

Torvald rowed out from Bjørnarøy that afternoon.  There was a low cloud cover, but no rain.  He and Einar had gone down to the piers with a pack of food that Einar's mother had prepared.  Einar's father went with them down to the boat.  He didn't ask about what the boys were doing, just wished them a good trip.  They rowed out from Bjørnarøy, past Vedholmen, and through the strait between Røttingen and Strøno.

On the way to Strøno, they started rowing in circles, with two trolling lines set.  Now and then they glanced towards the boathouse where they had left the Canadians and to the hills beyond.  They didn't see any signs of life, but had no doubt the Canadians were there somewhere.

In the distance, they saw a patrol boat round Røttingen from the south and plow through the waves towards them.  The patrol boat slowed, swung beyond the rowboat, and then stopped a few fathoms from the rowboat.  A sailor stood on deck and looked down on the rowers.  The fish they had caught lay in a tub in the stern of the boat.  Both the rowers gave a half-military salute with their right arms as a friendly greeting.  The sailor nodded back, and then said something to an officer who had stuck his head out through an open window on the bridge.  The patrol boat sped back up and headed back out into the sound towards Vedholmen.

A half hour later, two of the smaller guard boats headed south on the east side of Strøno, both with a small cannon on the bow and smaller guns in the rear.  They didn't pay any attention to the rowers, but maintained their speed and disappeared towards Bjørnafjord. 

In the twilight, the rowers continued to catch pollack, and an hour later it finally got dark enough for them to venture onto Strøno.  They moored the boat a few hundred yards from the boathouse.  When they arrived, the gave the pre-arranged signal  – four knocks, a pause, then four more knocks – before they went inside.  They climbed up the ladder, opened the hatch, and Torvald gave a quiet “Hello.”  The Canadians had blown out the lamp, but now lit it again.  

“Welcome,” said a relieved Gordon Biddle.

The visitors did not stay long.  They delivered lunch and a handful of cigarettes before returning to the rowboat and heading home.  

The Norwegians talked about what they would do if the aircrew were arrested and taken for interrogation by the Gestapo.  They knew the risk.  For several years, Ulven was a transit camp, with a constant stream of prisoners through it, including the inhabitants of Televåg, the unfortunate town that was razed to the ground by order of Reichscommissioner Josef Terbove, and many coastal people who had tried to flee to England.   After questioning and torture at Ulven, many were sent east by train and then shipped south to concentration camps on the continent.

The crew followed the routine of going up into the mountains before daybreak and then back down after it became dark.  They drank water from dripping leaves and a small creek.  Although they Norwegians had given them a package of food, it was not enough, so they continued to use the supplements from their emergency packs.

They had nothing to do but to make sure that they remained invisible to the world.  The highlights of their days were the trips up and down the hills.  They continued to hear the morning artillery practice and other artillery during the day.  When they saw freighters passing  through the fjord and the occasional passenger ship, they tried to guess the length of the boat and the speed they were making.

They squeezed together in their little shelter when it rained, and when the rain stopped they got up and stretched their legs.  To avoid dwelling on the uncertainty of their situation, they were eager to discuss any topic.  They had been given a small English-Norwegian dictionary and looked up words and phrases, wondered how the hell the words were pronounced and what were those marks on the multisyllable words.

They told each other stories they knew about other flight-crews who had been forced to land in occupied territory.  Some had been caught, but some crew members had made their made their often adventuresome way back to England. 

Now they themselves were behind enemy lines, and had to stay free as long as possible, even if at times the situation might seem helpless.  Not one of them gave in to pessimism, and Captain Biddle gave them an example to live up to.  They were in the hands of knowledgeable local people, he emphasized, and he was sure that they would find a solution.

Development on the various fronts of the war contributed to their attitude.  Although they had had no news since the crash, they know that the Soviets were advancing on Germany from the east in a line from Estonia in the north to Greece in the south, and that the allies were advancing from the west.  However, they know it would take many hard and long battles before Germany would be defeated.  They had long-since ceased to doubt who would win the war, but they all wanted to get safely back to England and a new Wellington.  And of course they all wanted to take part in the final celebration.

It was not easy living so close together every hour of the day, especially under these trying conditions.  If one of them stumbled in the dark when returning in the evening and made a noise, the others would tell him to be quiet.  But in a moment, it was all forgotten and they remained good friends.

One mid-day they watched a gunboat approach over the fjord and appear to turn directly towards them.  They could see people on the bridge examining the area with binoculars.  Biddle said that they would have to move further up into the woods, but as soon as he said it, the boat turned again, and headed slowly but steadily away.

The next day, the same thing happened again.

Before going to bed at night, they talked about their home towns and wondered if they would every see Canada again.  They kept their practice of having one man on guard at all times while the others slept.

But no one got uninterrupted sleep.  They would lay awake a long time listening for the sounds of someone approaching or of a patrol boat heading in towards the boathouse.  Sometimes they heard the distant sounds of aircraft and the staccato sounds of anti-aircraft fire somewhere on the coast.

Regardless of what they did to pass time, the days seemed infinitely long.  The temperature hovered a few degrees above freezing, and one rain shower did not stop before the next one started.  They shivered and froze under the tarpaulin.  As they did on the first day on the run, they sat close together to keep warm.

Although morale was good, they were not always sure about the food that was brought to them.  Among other things, one of the Islanders one night brought some smoked and salted tuna that in war-time was a pure delicacy for fishermen and farmers on the Norwegian coast, but the Canadians were taken aback when they opened the package and saw what looked like raw fish, and their hosts lacked the language skills to explain.    It was hard and salty, but good nourishment.

When the same Islander visited again, he discovered that one of the Canadians, the navigator, had cut a slice of the tuna and greased his boots with it.  Aviator boots were not designed for walking in the west Norwegian woods in the fall.  

The Canadians were very grateful one evening when a group of their Norwegian contacts rowed up to the boathouse bringing with them a small load of waffles and potato pancakes, made by one of their mothers.  Even his companions praised them, and it was probably the only time that any one had such positive things to say about the food that had become a staple because the lack of anything else to eat.

Transporting food supplies was risky.  The rowers could be checked by the Germans at any time and could not carry more food than would be justified by a long fishing trip.

When Einar and Torvald delivered food and drink, and sometimes a pinch of tobacco, while they rowed they berated themselves for never having taken the trouble to learn English.  Communication in the boathouse involved pointing and mime, but they were able to make the Canadians understand that they were trying to establish radio contact with England.  “Radio” and “sender” were words that all understood.

One night the Norwegian-American came along with Magnus Røttingen, so communication was much improved.  After a long and colourful discourse on what he thought of Adolf Hitler's invading army, he told the Canadians about all the rumours that were circulating about them, each one more imaginative than the next.  A woman who was one of the most ardent church-goers was saying that the crew had been taken alive directly to heaven.  A second, and more down to earth, rumour was that they had been picked up by a submarine.  Even a German officer agreed that must be so, since they couldn't be found anywhere in the area.

They had to smile, before becoming serious again.

The Norwegian-American had much to tell, and gloated like a kid over the daily bombing raid on the Germans.

The Canadians asked about the other boathouses in the area and the large building nearby.  They were told that the Germans had used them up until a couple of months ago. 

There was a change in the routine on Saturday, September 30, four days after the crash.  One of the contacts arrived with a man tall enough to be a Mountie, though his clothes were not so colourful, as he appeared in work pants, rubber boots, and a salt-stained cap.

“Going well?” he asked in English, and introduced himself with a cover-name.  Lange Johannes naturally became Long John.  

The name was familiar to the Canadians and made them thirsty – Long John was the name of a Scotch whiskey brand.  The men shook hands and introduced themselves, but the Norwegians all used cover-names.

“I have my look-outs around,” Long John informed them.  He continued and told them that the Germans were now combing the island that they were now on and that he had cycled past one column after another heading to beaches on the mainland.  The airmen therefore needed to me moved to a safer location further east, and they had to leave tomorrow.  Another boat-ride was obviously another risk, but it was one they would have to take because it would be far more dangerous to stay on the island.

Long John did not give any details about himself, but the Canadians realized that this was a guy who had spent time in England.  He talked familiarly about Trafalgar Square and Leicester Street as if he were a cockney.  It was not difficult to tell the type of man he was from his attitude and actions.  Whether he stood or sat, with his cap at an angle over his eyebrows, he had a commanding presence that radiated calm.  The crew was considerably uplifted by his presence.

He told them that he had witnessed their flight on the morning of the crash, and they filled in the details of their stormy flight, from the first sparks from the starboard engine, through the jettisoning of all unneeded equipment, to the crash on the hillside.  They were still amazed that they had survived the landing relatively unscathed.  They could thank this man, they said, pointing to their Captain, but Gordon Biddle did not want to hear any more talk about it.

Long John said that, because they would be traveling the next day, they had to shave their moustaches and beards so that they would look like as much like local islanders as possible.  “See you later”, he said as he saluted with a finger to his cap.

The barbering was a tedious affair, especially for Ken Graham and Maurice Neil, who were proud of their facial hair.  The razor was pretty dull, and they had only cold water and no soap.

It was something of a stretch to thing that they would appear to be local young people, because people who spend their days fishing or farming didn't go around in air force uniforms.  On the other hand, the uniforms were kept on in case they were caught in the hope that they would be treated as prisoners of war.

They did not know the fate of the seven crew members of MTB 345.

Einar Evensen and Torvald Jakobsen were to take the Canadians to Lønningdal in a 21-foot boat that Einar had.  It was a type commonly seen both in the straights and out in the open fjord, and they hoped it would not attract attention.
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Einar Evensen's 21-Foot Boat

The trip would be about 14 or 15 nautical miles.

The move would be on a Sunday, which both Einar and Torvald thought was good timing.  They would be going near the u-boat base at Hatvik.  Fifteen to twenty submarines and other naval vessels set out from Hatvik on most days, but usually there were far fewer on Sundays.

The almanac for October 1 confirms that it was a glorious day in the islands, with a clear sky and calm sea.

It was tuna-fishing season in Bjørnafjord. They used harpoons and rifles, and the boys had rigged a scaffold on the bow.  Guard boats rarely stopped tuna boats that were obviously fishing, and even more rarely on Sundays.

Still, the idea of the trip gave them pause.  It was a very small boat to carry eight adults that distance.

Before the Canadians headed to the woods that morning, they had very carefully cleaned up the boathouse, leaving it exactly as it had been the night they moved in.  However, they knew that if the German who was using the boathouse started to suspect that the boathouse had been used, his Norwegian friend who supplied him with crab and lobster would tell him that he had visited and listened to the radio – but not English broadcasts.  

Torvald and Einar led them through the forest for a kilometre and brought them to a small pier where they had moored the boat.  It had a windshield and a detachable a canvas roof.  Five of the aircrew lay flat on the floor under the roof, while Biddle sat in full view with the boat's crew.  He had put on a fisherman's well-worn pants and shirt outside his air force uniform. The five lay practically on top of each other, and a tarp was stretched over them.

Einar started the engine, a small diesel, and headed out from the pier.  He gave full throttle and was happy for the good weather.  It was hard enough in the perfect weather for the five on the floor in the vibrating boat, it would have been miserable in bad weather.  They swung west around Rottingatangane staying a few cable-lengths from the shore.  They kept an eye on the artillery positions and also on the few patrol boats that were visible.  Einar saw that someone on one of the patrol boats had his binoculars on them, but only for a few seconds.  A ferry was speeding along the coast heading in the opposite direction, but other than that there was nothing but the open fjord to the east.

Gordon Biddle let his eyes glide over the mountains that appeared like a wreath against the blue sky.  There were fall colours on the hillsides, those colours that remind us that, even when we become complacent with the state of affairs, things will change in the end.  In the distance in the east, there was a white streak against the sky – the Folgefonni glacier that served as a navigation point.  It was the same glacier he and the co-pilot had glimpsed through a break in the clouds in the minutes before landing.

Magnus K. Røttingen and a fellow townsman sat in a motorboat not fat from Bjørnatrynet.  To a casual observer, they were just out there fishing, as indeed they were doing.  However, their eyes were on Einar's boat as it rounded the southern tip of Røttingen and set out in the open waters of Bjørnafjord.   They were aware that it didn't take much to attract the German's attention and create some disorder in the system, so the plan was that if there was any sign that a German patrol boat would stop Einar's boat, Magnus and his companion would do something to attract attention to themselves and away from Einar's boat.

To take the shortest route over the fjord, Einar steered the boat towards a point on a point of land to the east in the neighbouring kommune of Fusa.

They were at the midway point of the journey when a patrol boat emerged from a group of islands in the south and and headed north.  None of the three who could see out had seen it lurking in between the islands, and it was on a straight course towards them, with white bow waves extending out like two wings.  Einar had only one option – to maintain course and proceed as if nothing were happening.  When the patrol boat had approached to within about five hundred meters, it seemed to both the Norwegians and Biddle that they they had to change course or slow or that the patrol-boat had to turn.

Torvald rushed to the bow and pointed excitedly towards the sea as if he could see something big.  Both he and Einar knew that the only card left in the deck was deception.  Einar throttled down and pointed the bow on a line more directly at the patrol boat, appearing as if he would continue to maintain his course.  He was aware that the sailors could see that Einar's boat was low in the water and therefore carrying a full load.  He noticed that there are more men on the bridge of the patrol boat.  

When they were barely two hundred yards apart, the patrol boat suddenly changed course and headed to the base at Nord-Reksteren.

The five under the tarpaulin breathed fuel fumes and the smell of fish.  They had no idea of what was going on.  Only much later did they learn about the patrol boat.

Fusafjord, which branches off of Bjørnafjord, is three nautical miles wide at its entrance, but east of Hatvik narrows down to half that width.  The Canadians were landed in a hidden cove on the Fusa side of the fjord opposite Hatvik.  The crew disappeared after gesturing they would be back.

In the early afternoon, the day was still bright and clear, but little clouds were starting to appear in the far southwest.  

The aircrew had a strong pair of binoculars that Einar had left them.  They hid themselves in the foliage a short distance from the boat and carefully surveyed the fjord.  On the north side of the fjord there were naval vessels close to the steep shore so as to be less visible from the air.  They had trees and shrubs on the wheelhouse roof and on deck as camouflage.

Einar and Torvald went to a nearby house to ask if there was a telephone, which was not common in homes at that time.  A woman with a small child hanging on her skirts came out when they knocked.  Luckily, there was a phone at the home.

“We came from Os and are on a trip into the fjord, but I have to make a phone call,” said Einar.

She asked him into the hallway were the phone was while Torvald waited outside.

He dialed the number of one of his contacts, who answered immediately.

“I'm on my way by Hatvik, and I've got a little problem with my motor,” he said, “So even though it is Sunday, can I swing over so you can take a look at it?”

“Of course you can come,” came the response from the other end.

It was a signal that every thing was clear in Lønningdal.

When Einar paid for the loan of the phone, the woman looked questioningly at him.  “There was a plane that made an emergency landing there in Os,” she said. It must have been the same plane she and her husband saw in the early morning four or five days ago, it had come in not many meters over the top of their house.  It was so close that her husband thought he could see the silhouette of the pilot.  The whole family headed toward the basement because they were sure it was going to bomb Hatvik, but suddenly it turned and headed back in the other direction.  She and her husband talked about it because it was something out of the usual – it didn't behave like other aircraft.

Did he have any idea what happened to the crew of the plane?

Yes, replied Einar, he knew that they had made it safely away from the landing site, as far as the people there could tell, but no one had seen them since then.  The Germans looked high and low, but apparently had not found any traces of them.  It was and remained a mystery.  Einar for his part believed that they had somehow obtained a boat and set off westward across the sea.  There were so many things that could happen in times like these.  He mentioned the theory that many believed, that they had been picked up by a submarine. 

He apologized for his intrusion and headed back to the Canadians.  Along the way, Einar wondered whether the woman had guessed what he was doing, because he thought she had seen some doubt in her expression.  “It would be better if you didn't look so guilty, “said Torvald, knowing that both of them had been brought up to never tell lies.

On the way traveling over Bjornafjord, the Norwegians had not been very communicative, even though both normally did a reasonable job of keeping the conversation going.  One of the pilots still had the dictionary.  After the Norwegians returned and they were all heading to the boat again, Einar asked, using the dictionary, how many guns and how much ammunition they had on board their plane.  They replied that there were four machine guns in the tails and one in the nose, with a total of 20,000 rounds of ammunition.  The Canadians understood that the questioner was upset to learn that they had to dump all those assets into the sea to keep the plane in the air, although he realized that they didn't have any other options.  For Einar, each round represented a German who could be removed from Norwegian soil.

They were still on this subject when they got to the boat.  They started the engine, pulled in the lines, and backed out from the shore.

Einar and Torvald had to constantly behave as if they had nothing to hide, so they set a course that took them only a few hundred meters from the Hatvik base.  When they were just past the base, they had to back up when an a large u-boat suddenly broke surface in front of them, likely on its way back to base after a long crew.  A door opened on and sailors emerged onto the foredeck.

Even the Canadians under the tarpaulin could see under the edge of the tarp and saw the long hull of the u-boat.  They had never been so close to a bombing target.  

Einar turned the boat and steered towards Samnangerfjord.  As they approached it, they turned to port and headed in another nautical mile.  Finally, he slowed the boat and headed in to land.

Although the Norwegians had been a little more talkative and had used the dictionary for a while, they now fell silent again.  The Canadians wondered what was going on and what would happen next.  But they understood that they were at their destination and would be meeting others.  It did them untold good to be able to go ashore and stretch their legs.

GRIEF AND LOSS IN CANADA

As early as September 27, the aircrew members' next-of-kin received short telegrams that the crew was missing after an air operation a few days before.  The recipients of the sad news were three wives and three fathers.   The telegrams ended with: “Letter follows.”

The telegrams were signed “RCAF Casualties Officer.”  “Casualties,” as used by the military includes dead, injured, or missing.

The same day that the Canadians crossed Bjørnafjord, their next-of-kin received the promised letter.  Harvey Firestone's full first names are Elliott Harvey, but he was normally known as Harvey.  The letter was sent to his father, and read as follows:

October 1, 1944

Mr. Max Firestone

6105 Durocher Avenue

Outremont, Quebec

Dear Mr. Firestone:

It is with the deepest regret that I write to confirm the cablegram informing you that your son, Warrant Officer Firestone, has been reported missing on Active Service.  I would like to convey to you the feeling of my entire squadron.

In the early hours on 26th September, 1944, Elliott, along with the rest of his crew took off on an operational patrol.  Unfortunately, the aircraft never returned and we have since heard nothing from it or any member of the crew.

We lost one of our best crews when this aircraft failed to return and your son was one of its most popular members.  His abilities were recognized, not only by the other members of his crew, but also by the rest of the Squadron.  His loss is deeply felt by every member of this Squadron.

Your son's effects have been gathered together and forwarded to the Royal Air Force Central Depository, where they will be held until better news is received, or in any event for a period of at least six months before being forwarded to you through the Administrator of Estates, Ottawa.  

Please accept my deepest sympathy and if there is anything I can do to help you at the time, do not hesitate to write.

Yours sincerely,

R.A. Ashman

Wing Commander 

Officer Commanding 407 Sqdn.  RCAF.

BICYCLE PATROL

Jakob Hjelle and Helén Mowinckel Nilsen waited all Sunday afternoon, like racehorses waiting for the starting signal.  With them was 20-year old Haldor Øvredal.
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Haldor  Øvredal
Haldor was among the most active citizens of Os in the resistance.  For most of 1941, the Communist leader, Peder Furubotn, had been in the area, first in Lønningdal and then later in the interior town of Øvredal.  The light-footed Haldor had become a trusted courier for the fiery communist., who for eight years before the war had received backing from Russia.  Haldor did not know who Furubotn really was, but knew that he was one who gave orders, not one who took them.

Once Furubotn gave him papers that were to be delivered to someone in Bergen, and told him

to make sure the papers were not lost, stolen or taken by the Germans.

What should he do with the papers if he were arrested?

“Eat them, boy!”

When at the end of the year Peder Furubotn left Indregardane by car to Bergen to take the train east, Haldor was the escort with a gun in a shoulder holster.  Fortunately, had no need to use the gun, and the boy heaved a sigh of relief as Furubotn disappeared into the mail car.  Haldor still did not know who this powder-keg was – he wore a full beard as a disguise the entire time in Os.

In autumn 1942, some time after the communist leader left, a man was arrested in Bergen.  In one of the arrested man’s pockets, a Nazi plainclothes police officer found a notebook.  Contrary to instructions, the notebook contained the names of three contacts in clear print, and one of the names was Haldor Øvredal.

Late one rainy night two members of the infamous Gestapo arrived in Lønningdal.  There they talked with the quick-witted woman who ran the small general store.  They told her that they wanted to go to Øvredal to talk with a man named Haldor.  She convinced them that the narrow path to the village along the lake was not usable at night – it was so twisty and uneven that they would be risking their lives to take it.  They could take the boat she and the others used to go out on the lake, but it was so leaky that no one used it except in daylight.

When the Gestapo agents had wished her “Gute Nacht” and left, the woman sent her son to Haldor with a message to hide in the woods because she know that the Germans would soon pay another visit.

Being undercover was not the worst thing people could do.  If they started with a sensible story, they could expect to keep it going until the occupation was over.

In January, Haldor and a friend had stolen 200 kilos of dynamite from a bunker in Åsane, a few miles north of Bergen.  The stolen goods were taken by SabOrg to one of Peder Furubotn's farms.  While he would have been happy to do things like that on a daily basis, living in hiding from day to day could be very difficult for hot-blooded young men.  Haldor was excited when he was let in on the secret and learned that the Canadians had been hiding in the western islands and would now be coming to the woods where he lived like a red fox.

The boat had moored on the north side of the river that runs through Lønningdal.  Einar told the others to wait.  He went to the store where he borrowed the phone and called Magnus Hauge.  “I'm here in Lønningdal with the potatoes.  I did not see anybody waiting for them, and need to know who to deliver them to.”

“You were lucky to get me at home, I was thinking of going to the movies,” said Magnus playing his role well.  He had to maintain their cover for the son of the store-owner, who could hear both sides of the conversation.  

Magnus told Einar that they could take the bags of potatoes down to a specific boat and they would soon be picked up.  Magnus's sister went to Helén with the message that the crew had arrived, and in the evening he, Jakob and Haldor headed down to the sea.  

Jakob had lookouts posted in the area.

Half an hour later, Einar rejoined the crew and told the Canadians to follow.  They disappeared into the trees and came to a small fishing cabin that was all by itself.  The place exuded peace and tranquility.  After some effort, Torvald managed to open the door, and all went inside.  The Norwegians stood in a corner of the cabin and with the dictionary in front of them and much waving of arms and gesturing, tried to explain the plan.

They then all went out to three nearby boathouses.  The Norwegians opened the door to the one in the middle, which was in the best condition.  Einar explained that the Canadians had to stay in the boathouse and that others would soon come to fetch them.

After Torvald had snapped shut the padlock on the outside of the door, he and his friend happily set off in search of a liquor smuggler for a major purchase.

A ladder in the boathouse led to a ceiling hatch.  When one of the three Wireless Air Gunners went up and opened it, he was met with the mixed smell of tar and rope.  The room was a storeroom for fishing equipment and boat repair materials.  It was large enough for all of them to fit into.

After a long days voyage, they were too tired to think too seriously about their situation. All agreed that the best thing to do now would be to get some sleep.  Five men stretched out on the floor and fell asleep in a flash, while Harvey again took the first watch.

For several years, the Germans sent out a five or six man bicycle patrol from their Haugsneset base to Lønningdal several times per day.  The resistance constantly monitored the patrols.  The Germans made it easier on the Norwegians because the patrols went out at the same time every day.

While the Canadians were hiding in the boathouse, the bike patrol was on its way down the hillside towards Lønningdal.  They chatted as they slowed and stopped and got off their bikes for a rest, unaware that every move was being watched by one of Jakob's lookouts.  After five minutes, they got back on their bikes.  Their next stop was at the sea, where they rested their bikes against a rock wall.  For some reason, one of them fired two shots into the air, and they all got up to go across the field and investigate the boathouses.  Jakob, Helén and Haldor were hiding close by, each with a gun close to hand. 

A few minutes after Harvey had begun his watch, he heard the sound of footsteps outside the walls.  The door rattled and he was able to distinguish several voices.  He gently came up to Maurice Neil, who was closest.  Neil opened his eyes and started to get up before Harvey held him down and signaled him to be quiet.  Because of the fear of making noise, they did not wake the rest.  They heard that the language outside was German, and that one voice stood out.  They remained quiet and waited to see what would happen.

The boathouse attic remained at peace, and when things became quiet outside, Maurice Neil was able to go to sleep again.

It was only much later than they learned what had really happened.  When the cycle patrol had arrived at the three boathouses, they went into two of them and investigated.  But when they were at the third, they fiddled with the “verdamte” padlock, and their leader said they should not bother with it.

The other Germans did not disagree, and the trio in hiding in the bushes could hear and understand most of the Germans' conversation.  Helén heard the leader say that “die kerle” (the men”) probably were not trapped in a locked boathouse.  They all knew which “kerle” the man was referring to. 

A good while after the Germans had left, Harvey heard the door below them open and someone enter.  He waited a few seconds, and then crawled on all fours up to the hatch and saw a man half-way up the ladder.

During the evening, the fine weather had given way to rain again.  The figure on the ladder was no other than Long John in a raincoat and sou'wester.  He asked Harvey if they were still in good shape or if anyone needed any medical attention.

The others all awoke when they heard the conversation, and all assured him that they were still in good condition.  Long John told them that he had to take care of a few things, but should be back in a few minutes and they should be ready to follow him when he got back.

TO BOTNANE

Helén returned soon, along with Jakob and Haldor.  Then they took to their feet again.  They walked a kilometre to a farm where they met several people.  Two of the Norwegians stood guard, one at the main door and one out on the road.

A man in the living room asked his “honourable guests” in good English to sit at the table and told them that it was not every day he had people like them on his guest list. They sat down and noticed that two women were busy in the kitchen.  

Their host told them that now they would get good hot food, rest a bit, and the resume their hike.  It would be a fairly demanding hike, and he hoped that these good Canadians were used to climbing in the mountains.  “By the way, what is the highest mountain in Canada?”

Mount Logan, came the reply, about 19,000 feet (6,000 meters) high.  After this somewhat obscure questioning, they were served porridge.  A large rustic pot was placed in the middle of the table so they could help themselves as needed.  After their hit and miss menu in the boathouse and shelter, they guests were as starved as ravens in the high reaches of Mount Logan.

There were no problems with communications, for both Helén and the other English-speakers translated on the fly from English into Norwegian and vice verse.  There was an almost jovial mood at the table, now that the strain of the boat trip and the experience down at the boathouse began to fade.  

Both women who served them looked with curiosity at the six men that they had waited hours to see.  They saw young, healthy polite young men who had been shuttled from place to place being sought by an enemy that was making a concerted effort to find them.

While they ate, Helén asked where their base was in England.  They shifted uncomfortably and said that they could not give him any information about the airfield.  He assured them that they did not need to worry about it.

He then said that he had fled to England two and a half years before, and now he planned sabotage and other covert operations in Norway.  Among other things, he had spent some months in a training area in Scotland before being sent back to his home country.

The aircrew hoped that he told the truth, but they were suspicious when he asked where their base was and what their mission was.  You had to be careful with what you said those days.

It again occurred to one of the Canadians that the Germans used many tricks to obtain information from downed aircrew.  Could the whole rescue from the first day be just a skillful plot to obtain information from them?  Perhaps Long John said so much about himself because he thought they would reciprocate.  It was a difficult balancing act.  On the one hand, they were infinitely grateful to all that the men and women had done for them, but on the other hand they had to deal with the uncertainty that nagged at them and that they had to do their best to hide.  One factor in Long John's favour was the way he spoke English, which they had noticed when he first visited them and told them that they needed to move.

Helén pointed out that it was important that they give him some proof of who they were, in order to prove to the appropriate authorities in England that they really were who they claimed to be.  Could they, for example, let him know some characteristic feature of the crew?

The crew exchanged a few words among themselves and agreed that they should mention the nickname of one of the crew – Red.  He got the nickname because of his red hair, and no one in the squadron referred to him as anything other than Red.  

Helén then told them about the rumour his people had circulated that eight heavily armed commandos had been on board the aircraft.  He knew that the possibility of commandos would make the Germans cautious.

The mood eased after this exchange of information, and became even easier when he changed the subject to something more immediate and concrete.  He told them that their boots were unsuitable for the next stage, and that other footwear was being provided.  That turned out to be well-worn rubber boots and wool socks.

The recipients were more than happy to trade shoes.  One of them had been without proper shoes for most of the time.  He had tried to dry out his soggy shoes on the lamp in the boathouse attic and had burned a hole in the sole.

They were also given hiking clothes and a rucksack.  They thanked their hosts for all the food and headed outside.

Energized after sitting and resting for two hours, they set out on a narrow path.  They were a  motley group – the crew with their unaccustomed jackets outside their uniforms, some with hats on their heads and others not.  The Norwegians had on sou'westers and raincoats.  In the backpacks, Helén and Jacob had distributed mess-kits, cookware, food and sleeping bags.  The backpacks seemed enormous in the dark, but they were in Helén's words: “only 25 kilos.” 

Jakob Hjelle and Haldor Øvredal led the way.  After them came George Grandy, Ken Graham, and George Death.  Behind them were Long John (Helén Mowinckel Nilsen) with Gordon Biddle on one side and Maurice Neil on the other.  At Harvey Firestone's side in the rear of the group was the man who had invited them to sit and eat.  He was a thin young man about 20 years old and as tall as Helén.  He spoke in a cheerful tone and had introduced himself as Long Kjell.  “Long” was easy enough, but for the Canadians, Kjell was a tongue-twister to pronounce correctly.

His full correct name was Kjell Harmens.  He was a member of MilOrg in Fana.  Helén had mobilized him for this job both because of his language ability and because he was known for reacting calmly.

The rain did not desert them.  Helén took off his raincoat and draped it over the shoulders of the co-pilot.  The group left the open fields and headed into the forest.

They marched in the dark until they came to a cascading stream.  They had not been able to find enough rubber boots, so Harvey had to make do with ordinary shoes.  Even if they were not totally waterproof, they were better than his uniform boots, and it was good to have new knitted wool socks.

The leaders crossed a stream and the others followed.  Kjell knew that Harvey did not have proper boots, and offered to carry him on his back.  Harvey hesitated, because he thought that his backpack was heavy, and that it would be too much for Kjell to carry his own backpack, Harvey, and Harvey's backpack.  Kjell, who thought that it was always good to try something new, took his backpack in his hand and told his new acquaintance to hop on his back.  Kjell was obviously a joker, because in the middle of the stream he stopped and said with a grin that it was time to jump off.

“A promise is a promise,” replied the man on his back.

They came to a valley with steep slopes on both sides.  In front of them was a long, narrow lake.  On the shore near them was a fat dory.  They put the bags in it, pushed out, and stepped on board.  Two men in the front seat rowed, and the Canadians were impressed by the Norwegians' boat-handling skills.  Helén sat in the rear with a machine pistol at his feet.

The dory had a tendency to swing to one side if the rowers did not put equal force into their strokes, which meant that neither rower could just sit there and let the other do the work.  One of the rowers complained about the other, and they had mildly heated conversation about it.  Long Kjell translated for Harvey and added that this was typically Norwegian.

They reached a small scattering of houses on the far shore after half a kilometre of rowing.  Helén told them not to say a single word until they were well past the houses.  The residents were reliable enough, but the less they saw and knew the better their chances of surviving a Gestapo interrogation. 

They drew the boat gently onto land, and left it so that it could be used by the next person to need it.  Then they took their packs and headed out over the fields and passed a few darkened houses.  They could neither see nor hear anyone.

It was so dark when they reached the forest that the leaders had trouble recognizing which part of the forest they were in.

Slowly but surely they ascended the heights.  Now and then the landscape changed into scrub forest, where there were steep and slippery rocks to surmount.  Helén said that there was no choice but to keep on climbing straight up.  If they hadn't done so before, the Canadians now knew why had had asked about their mountain climbing experience.

Jakob and Haldor showed that it was best to keep their heads up as they climbed the rock.  The fliers tried their best to follow after them.  If they had made slow progress before, it did not get any easier as they made their way up the mountain.  It was difficult at first, and then got worse.  Helén saw that one of the Canadians was having problems and took the Canadian's pack and carried it in his hand.  He insisted that there was not far to go.  When they finally got to the top of the rock face, they had to sit and recover their breath before they resumed their trek.

In the darkness, the Canadians could not see the top.  They just had to grit their teeth and keep on going with their pulses pounding.  They wondered what Long John had meant by “not far.”   He must have said that just to encourage them.  But ultimately they reached the crest of the mountain, where they all sat and took a ten minute break. 

Now Helén said that it was still some distance to the cabin, but the terrain for the rest of the journey would be easy and they would have plenty of time to rest when they got to their destination.  They continued into the trees, with Jakob and Haldor still leading.  A few minutes later they reached a river, and as they crossed it, the early morning light allowed them to see a small hut among the trees.

The Canadians later learned that the hut was four and a half kilometres from Lønningdal as the crow flies, but that they had walked six kilometres, in addition to the boat journey.  A young man came out of the cabin door and greeted them.  It was obvious they were expected.

LITTLE CANADA
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Woodcarving by Jakob Hjelle of Little Canada
The man who welcomed them at the hut was known simply as Hans.  He was with the underground group in Fusa.  He was there specifically to wait for them, because they were his next task.  A month before the Wellington's arrival, the underground had been very active in Os.   They needed fuel, which was in short supply during wartime.  Now, fuel would be useful for further transportation of the aircrew, so it was almost as if the there was a direct connection between Hans' last job and the arrival of the Canadians.  

Hans was a sheriff's officer in Os and also a MilOrg officer.  One day he came to Jakob Hjelle and reported that the Sheriff had been notified that the police's reserve supply of gasoline and diesel fuel had been requisitioned and would be seized by the Germans.  He spoke of 1800 liters of fuel in barrels in the sheriff's garage four hundred meters from the Haugsneset fortress.

Jakob thought that it would be better for MilOrg to take the supplies than the Germans, so he and his group immediately started preparations.  They would carry the barrels on a horse-wagon with rubber wheels and take it to a garbage dump a few miles away, close to the road that runs through Hegglandsdalen to Lønningdal.

They spent all of one Saturday reconnoitering.  The next night six men went to work.  The wind was calm and the moon bright, but it was unseasonably cold as they tip-toed quietly up the road to their target.  

Their greatest fear was the guard stationed at the gate to the Haugsneset camp, but they did not notice any reaction when they made some noise removing the chain from the carefully-bolted garage door   When they had crow-barred the door open, they remained silent and listened from a reaction from the camp, but everything remained quiet.

Right on the minute, the man with the horse and cart arrived, and in three quarters of an hour they had hundreds of liters of gasoline and eighty liters of oil.  The man with the horse also owned a truck, and he took twenty gallons of gasoline for it, and returned two days later with the truck and took the rest.

There were no complications during the transportation either.  While that were loading the last two barrels, a man who lived nearby showed up.    

“What are you doing?” he wanted to know.

“Talk to the boss,” said a voice.

Helén drew his scarf half over his face, walked up to the man and told him that they needed to get the supplies before the Germans got hold of it.  He described what happened next when telling the story later:

“I told him that our practice was that we knew who his family was and that if he said one word when he was questioned the next day, our organization would destroy his family and then him.  “This is our law,” Helén said, showing him an enormous revolver.

The man was so frightened that he fled to his house.  The barrels were taken to garbage dump where the men buried them.  They had previously dug a five meter long ditch.  Everything was in place and covered over when the night patrol from the German base rode into Heglandsdalen.

A couple days later Helén, with Jakob and three others, returned to where they had buried the barrels in order to bury the barrels deeper, because they realized that some could be seen from the surface.  When they were starting to dig, a German bicycle patrol arrived, and its leader asked to see their passes and demanded to know what they were doing.  

One of the men explained that they were looking for a rare and valuable silver spoon, that had been in the family for generations, that they thought had been inadvertently thrown out with the trash.

The Germans accepted this story, and the men continued digging in peace.  One of the cyclists had stopped awfully close to a barrel that was not well covered.  

When the German's came to the sheriff's to retrieve the store of fuel and could not find a single barrel, they started to investigate.

Helén put out a rumour that gasoline was available on the black market in a neighbouring kommune on the south side of the fjord, and did not have to wait long before the focus of the German search moved away to the south.  

Eventually the Germans came to suspect that Hans was involved in the theft.  One afternoon he was arrested by two police officers, both NS types -- the only ones in the Hordaland police district.

He was driven to the police station where he was thoroughly grilled by two high-ranking officers.  He did not admit anything, but he understood that they probably knew enough to hold him.  However, he was released after two days after solemnly promising to do his best to solve the crime.

He went to the sheriff's office in Os, and gathered all the papers on political investigations, as well as those on forced labour resisters and others being sought by the police.  He put all that paperwork in a file folder and left the sheriff’s office with it under his arm.  With help from Jakob's group, he made it safely to Fusa.

After handshakes and introductions using the noms de guerre of the Norwegians, Helén told the Canadians to open up their backpacks.  In each there was a blanket, sleeping bag, plate, pan, some fruit, a small package of coffee substitute, a few tins of dry milk, and bread.

The cabin was cramped for 11 men, but everybody found a place to sit and eat their food.

The crew had long since exhausted their supply of cigarettes  The smokers among them beamed when they got a pinch of tobacco and paper so they could roll their own cigarettes.   But they had never encountered tobacco like this before.  The first puff burned their throats and choked them.  The Norwegians explained that the tobacco was “home-grown.”

While the smokers coughed and the cigarettes became wet with their tears, Helén said that Hans would stay with them as long as they were there, both as a guard against the Germans and also as a cook.  There were only two paths to the cabin, the difficult path they had just taken, and a somewhat easier path in from the fjord in the opposite direction.  He emphasized that it would be impossible for the Germans to approach unseen. If by some stroke of bad luck the Germans approached anywhere close, the resistance would notice and would send runners to alert the people in the cabin.

The Canadians did not realize the extensive arrangements that had been made to ensure a reasonably safe trip from Strøno.  Until the end of the trip they had seen only Einar and Torvald, but they had been watched and followed all along the way.  Each of the people covering them was armed with a gun and had been told to use it if necessary.

A couple of hours before dusk, Helén said that he was going to Bergen and had to leave.  He again assured the Canadians that they had little to worry about and that he would try to be back soon.  He and the rest of the escort disappeared.

After they left, the Canadians rolled out their sleeping bags.  It was crowded on the floor, which was about four meters by four meters.  When you stood in the doorway and looked into the cabin, there was a little stove on the left and a large closet with shelves.  There was a long bench on the wall opposite the door.  The only window was on the right side.  Under it was a small table with two chairs on each side.  In the corner to the right of the entrance was a meter-long shelf.  There were two stools on the floor.  There was a loft space with room for a couple of men.  The cabin appeared to be fairly new, which it was.  One of Haldor's brothers had built it the year before.

They talked about what they had experienced that day, but lay down in their sleeping bags and were soon asleep after the exertions of a long day.  It was their first night in Norway that one of the crew did not have to stand guard.

In the morning they got up just after the sun gilded the leaves on the trees.  After they ate breakfast, the all went out and examined their surroundings.  They were surrounded by dense forests, and it was not too far down to the fjord Long John had mentioned.

Not only did the Canadians not know the real names of their helpers, only their assumed names, they were also not informed of other things that might be of use to the Germans if they were caught – they were not even told the name of the fjord they could see, which was Samnangerfjord.  But one name they picked themselves.  As they stood there and looked around the hut, they thought that both the vegetation and terrain reminded them of their own country.  One of them suggested that since the Norwegian Air Force had established a training camp in Canada and named it Little Norway, they would call the hut and surrounding area Little Canada.  Everyone thought it was a good idea, and they always referred to it as Little Canada.

They could not go too far from the cabin, and there was little to do.  Card games are often a way of passing time.  They had no playing cards, so they made their own.  They played poker, and the game became so intense that Hans was wondering what they were doing.  He spoke hardly a word of English, but understood enough and asked that they teach him the fine points of the game.  The crew still had the small Norwegian-English dictionary, but it was getting stained and worn.  

One day Haldor Øvredal showed up with a dark-haired man named Pete.  These two were on guard down near Samnangerfjord.  Not long after that, Jakob and Kjell arrived from Øvredal with a radio and more provisions.

Kjell told them that the Germans thought that it was not good for Norwegians to hear anything, so radios had been strictly forbidden since the summer of 1941.  He joked that when the Germans came to visit, they must not forget to hide the radio.

He told them about all the enemy efforts to find them, and all the threats that were made if people didn't report anything they knew to the Germans.  

The Norwegians sat and smoked homegrown without coughing even once.  They became excited and vociferous about whatever they were discussing. The Canadians asked what they were discussing, commenting that they appeared to be excited about something.  Kjell explained that they were talking about politics.  Pete was a communist and never missed a chance to praise the Red Army, and his face always turned red as a lobster when he discussed politics.  His hair matched his political views, because it was naturally red, but now it was dyed black because he was wanted by the Germans.

One morning, Jakob slipped out of the forest.  With him was a man known as Tobben, who was also wanted.  He had a long and naturally dark artist's mane.  He was active in SabOrg and thoroughly trained in weapons and explosives so went around to different bays around Hordaland and trained local units.  When Haldor stole dynamite from the bunker at Åsane, he took only Tobben with him.  He was a frequent courier for Jakob, and one of six persons imprisoned for three months in the Espeland concentration camp after the fiasco when no one appeared for the German's festival..

There was always a light and humourous tone in Little Canada when Tobben had errands there.  He was full of life and an expert whistler.  When he was in towns, he had even the otherwise aloof German soldiers listen in jaw-dropping amazement when he whistled.

Before their stay in Norway, the Canadians had only the vaguest impression of the food situation in occupied countries.  However, from their first day in the country, they started to figure out about supplies in an occupied country with closed borders.  How their new friends managed to feed six extra men was a mystery.  They had to wonder about all the provisions that were carried into the mountains – one day porridge and fish eggs, another day waffle-cakes with syrup and jam, and another day fresh salmon and sea trout.

Most days there were not a great deal to eat at Little Canada, but they had little to complain about.  They even caught an occasional trout in the lake near the cabin, and one evening Hans shot a deer that was drinking at the lake.

On April 20 of that year there had been an enormous explosion in Bergen when and an ammunition-laden barge blew up in Bergen's harbour.  Many were killed and many more were wounded.  The Germans blamed the explosion on two men.  One was Pete and the other was also a member of SabOrg.  Neither had any involvement in the accident, but both had to go into hiding.  

Helén and Jakob were occupied with other things and rarely made it to Botnane.  They lived in a cottage half an hour on the way down to Øvredal.

On October 4, the occupants of the hut witnessed a massive air attack against Hatvik.  Little Canada was ten to fifteen miles from the target.  They could hear the sounds of the planes, but knew nothing about the results.  They could see fire reflected against the aircraft and hoped that things were going well for the bombers and that everyone would be able to return to base.  They also wanted to return to base and join the other crews again.

The next day they learned that the bombers were Canadian and had also attacked the German's main submarine base on Norway's west coast at Laksevag near Bergen.  Both submarines and surface ships had been sunk.  It should have been a resounding victory,.  Their contacts delivered a newspaper.  It was full of death announcements.  A stray bomb had hit a school, and a number of Norwegian children were killed.

The Norwegians told them of the rumours that continued to circulate about them.  There were 12 in the crew, and eight had been arrested.  The search for the rest was put on hold, but the Gestapo was still working on the trying to find them.

NEW LETTER TO RELATIVES

A new letter was sent to the crew member's families on the same day as the bombing attack on the submarine base at Laksevag.  The letter to Max Firestone read as follows:

Royal Canadian Air Force

Ottawa, Canada, 4th October, 1944.

Mr. Max Firestone

6105 Durocher Avenue

Outremont, P.Q.

Dear Mr. Firestone:

It is with deep regret that I must confirm our recent telegram informing your that your son, Warrant Officer Second Class Elliott Harvey Firestone, is reported missing on Active Service.

Advice has been received information from the Royal Canadian Air Force Casualties Officer, Overseas, that your son and the entire crew of his aircraft failed to return to their base after taking off at 12:50 a.m. on September 26th, 1944, on an anti U-Boat patrol.  The last message received from the aircraft, was at 0600 A.M., which stated that they were unable to reach their base and that they were altering their course to land in Norway.

The term “missing” is to indicate that his whereabouts is not immediately known and does not necessarily mean that your son has been killed or wounded.  He may have reached enemy territory and might be a Prisoner of War; and should you receive any card or letter from him please forward it at once to the Royal Canadian Air Force Casualties Officer, Air Force Headquarters, Ottawa.  Inquiries have been made through the International Red Cross Society and all other appropriate sources and I wish to assure you that any further information will be communicated to you immediately.

Attached is a list of the members of the Royal Canadian Air Force who were in the crew of the aircraft, together with names and addresses of their next-of-kin.  Your son's name will not appear on the official casualty list for five weeks.  You may, however, release to the Press or Radio the fact that he is reported missing, but not disclosing the date, place or his unit.  

Your son was promoted to the rank of Warrant Officer Second Class, with effect from August 29th, 1944.  

Permit me to extend to you my heartfelt sympathy during this period of uncertainty, and I join with you and the members of your family in the hope that better news will be forthcoming in the near future.

Yours sincerely,

I.E. Thompson 

R.C.A.F. Casualty Officer

for Chief of the Air Staff

A MYSTERIOUS APPEARANCE

After Einar and Torvald had delivered the Canadians to Lønningdal, they spent the night in the village, and then returned home on Monday.  They went to Bjørnen and told Ingeborg and her father, without giving details about locations, that the pilots had moved from one hiding place to another and were still in safe hands.

But when Einar came home around noon, he received scary news.  The day before was the day of the confirmation ceremony for two of his neighbours, and the Evensen family had been invited to both.  They had been to dinner at the house of one and coffee at the house of the other and Einar had been invited.  Einar's family had tried to find an excuse for his absence.

While the celebrations were going on, a man came to Bjørnarøy in a rented boat.  He was looking for the aircrew from the crashed plane, and he was certain that Einar Evensen had them.  The man emphasized that he had to get to them, that his number one priority for his organization was to get them away before it was too late.

The man could not have properly thought through the concept of security because he told this story both in the company of one family and then the other.  Einar's family had answered that they hadn't the slightest idea what the man was talking about.  Einar's father was particularly sharp with the man.  But the man said he would be back on Monday at one o'clock.

The man showed up precisely on time, accompanied by the same man who had brought him the day before.  He opened the conversation by thanking Einar for his great effort.  He added in a confidential tone that he represented the “secret services.”

Einar had worked himself up into a mixture of fear and anger even before the man arrived, and blew up when the man arrived.  He asked him what methods the “Secret Services” used.  To say inflammable stuff in public and then come here and claim that he worked for the Secret Service was ridiculous.  The guy had to leave immediately at full speed and forget that he had been there.  If Einar had anything to do with the aircrew as the stranger had hinted, and that was certainly not the case, would he acknowledge this to an unknown stranger?

He said more in very clear language, so it was a visibly concerned agent who left Bjørnarøy that day.  Einar immediately sought information about the man, which caused concern in MilOrg.  Jakob Hjelle was the person who knew most about the members of the organization and he had never heard of the person, and neither had Helén Mowinckel Nilsen.

That was a restless night, particularly for Einar, who lay dressed in bed, and tossed and turned while he thought of what it would be like to be taken by the Gestapo.  From time to time he stood up and looked out to see if any boats were approaching.  He heard that his parents didn't rest either, he heard them talking in the bedroom.  But he didn't see any boat that appeared interested in Bjørnarøy.  He didn't relax, because the enemy could land on the other side of the island.

Long before daybreak, he cooked himself a cup of coffee substitute, cut a slice of bread, and remained awake the rest of the night.  He sat in the kitchen in the dark with the blackout curtains open.  He smoked one cigarette after another, and took care to hide the embers in his hand.  He stared down at the pier and up to the trees.  Nothing unexpected occurred during the day, and he began to breathe easier.

At that time, an underground organization known as Redwing was in place in Bergen, organized by Louis Petterson, with Gunnar Wiig-Anderson as radio-operator.  Each lived in hiding in the Minde area of Bergen, near downtown.  Louis had many contacts.  One was the store manager of a ship chandler in Bergen.  This gave him good connections with the coast, and he spent time daily with boat crew members.  Among other things, he had helped Louis set up a route from Bergen through Austevoll to the Shetland Islands.

One day near the end of September, the store manager was visited by a stranger who asked if he could speak with him alone.  He spoke like someone from northern Norway, so the store manager thought of his as “the Northerner.”   The store manager showed him into his office.  The Northerner said that he was organizing the escape of eight allied airmen who had made an emergency landing in Os.  London should be advised of this so that the crew could be smuggled out of the area and on to Shetland.  The stranger asked the store manager if he could arrange a vessel that could be used for the escape.

The store manager was not sure that the man really was part of the underground, but he found it difficult to totally avoid answering the question.  He suggested that a small fishing boat would be a possibility and that he would look into it.  The stranger thanked him with a nod and said he would return soon.

The store manager immediately reported this to Louis Pettersen, who told the store manager that he should not reveal that they had any contacts with the West, and that he should tell the Northerner that the pilots needed to be kept where they were.  Louis then informed Gunnar Wiig-Andersen, who sent a message to London:

“Have eight British airmen who crashed in Os.  Sending them over with the next boat that comes with supplies to Austevoll.”

The Northerner soon returned to the ship chandler and said that he wanted to make connections with the “Home Front” and that he was no longer in direct contact with the airmen.  Louis was immediately informed and wondered what was going on.

One day, Helén Mowinckel Nilsen and another weapons expert provided weapons training to a group of MilOrg fighters from Fana.  After dark, they returned to Nesttun by bus over Vallaheiene.  Helén as usual had his scarf around his neck with the little Mauser pistol hidden in it.  He did not enjoy the bus trip, because he recognized a man he knew to be in the German secret police two seats in front of him.  He had seen him often in the streets of Bergen.

At Nesttun, Helén and his friends hopped off the bus.  The others shook his hand, wished him good night, and set off to their homes.  Helén went to the train station and waited on the platform for the next train to Bergen.  The Gestapo officer, who was dark-haired and of medium height and wearing a Gestapo coat and boots, also was on the platform.  A half-squad of infantry soldiers came marching in and stopped on the platform.  Their Feldwebel (sergeant) gave them a rest break, so they were standing in small groups and smoking.  Each was in uniform, with a Mauser rifle and grenade.

When the train arrived and the doors opened, they all got in the same train car, Helén with them.  Helén exchanged small talk about the weather with the soldiers, as was his habit.

He got oft the train at Minde station, and walked a circuitous route to his destination.  Even then he walked past the house a few times to make sure he was not followed, and then finally went up and rang the doorbell. “Is Sven in?” he asked the woman who opened the door.

“Please come in,” she replied.

Sven's real name was Gunnar Wiig-Andersen.  Gunnar appeared and Helén told him about what was going on in Os, and that he urgently needed to send a message to London.

“But I already sent a message,” said Gunnar with a puzzled tone.  But Helén was even more amazed. 

Gunnar told him that it was Louis who had supplied the information and that he had no idea where it came from.  Helén immediately thought of the man who had approached Einar in Bjørnarøy.

“Here is something that we don't have control of,” he said.  

Then Gunnar said that it couldn't be easy to hide and feed all eight men.

“Eight?” Helén repeated.

Yes, he had sent a message about eight men.

“That's not right.  The crew has six men.”

Helén thought that the story of eight men must be based on the rumour that he had circulated about the eight commandos, and mentioned that to the radio operator.  They agreed to warn Louis, so that everyone should be aware of what was going on. 

While they sat there wondering, the doorbell rang twice. The person at the door asked if Sven were in.  They both recognized the Louis's voice.  He sat near so that he could hear what Helén had to say.

An hour later they were still sitting and talking.  Helén told them about the man who had visited Einar on an island in Os and has asked about the aircrew.  He had been irresponsible and talked openly about being in the Secret Service.  He was definitely not who he claimed to be.

They agreed that the person who had visited Einar had to be the same person who had approached the shipping manager.  But who on earth was he?

They thought about the possibility of being turned into the Gestapo, and froze at the thought.  Over the years there had been frequent round-ups of underground members in Bergen, especially in the first years of the occupation.  There had been tragedy on tragedy.  First was a larger group that had been based at Sjømannsskolen, with links to groups on the coast, then three quarters of a year later, the Stein organization, and half a year later it was the turn of the unfortunate Televåg; there was no shortage of examples.  The Gestapo spread throughout the City, with threads to the coastal districts.  In every case informers had acted behind the scene.

Louis said that they had to play their cards right in order to avoid catastrophe.  The next day, he went to the ship's chandler to talk to the store manager.  They agreed that when the Northerner appeared again, the store manager would tell him that unfortunately he could not assist him either with a boat or with contacts, and that he would not have anything to do with the matter.

Obviously, the recipients of the message in England were very skeptical about the message regarding eight men because, of course, they knew that the Wellington had a crew of six.  They suspected that the radio operator had been discovered by the Germans and that he was forced to send the message with a gun to his head.  They therefore asked for details or characteristic features about the aircrew could be supplied.

That was easy enough, because Helén was able to supply the information that he had learned over porridge in Lønningdal, that one of them was nicknamed Red.  The people in London realized that the message referred to Harvey Firestone and that it was probably genuine.  The message from Norway also clarified that there were six men in the crew, and that the plane had been set on fire.

On October 3, “Home Station” sent Gunnar a message in Morse code:

“We hope to send the cargo to Austevoll Saturday night the seventh.  The British aircrew will be collected at the same time.  Voss radio-operator will be delivered to same location.  Can you pass on this information?  The boat will arrive at  Følesvåg.  The coded message two days before will be “Hold kjøttkakene varme” (keep the meatballs hot), and the message the day the boat leaves will be “I dag vi har lutefisk” (today we have lutefisk).  If necessary, a special boat will be sent to retrieve the aircrew.  Please confirm.”

On October 6, Gunnar replied:

“The boat must be the night of Thursday the 12th.   Will take man without luggage to Voss.”

They still didn't know the name of the “Northerner” but finally succeeded in setting up a meeting between him and Johan Viken.  The meeting was at night on a bridge over a stretch of river rapids.

The man claimed he was involved in an intelligence organization, and that one of his jobs was distributing radios.  It was a strange task for someone in an intelligence  organization, thought Johan, but he made no comment.  But he wanted to know what type of organization the man belonged to, why he had changed his approach after the scene at Bjørnarøy .  The man apologized for saying things about his contacts that it was too dangerous for anyone to say or hear, but he would not say why he thought that people in Oyane had hidden the allied airmen, only that he had his connections.  

It was and remained an unanswered question why the Northerner had tried to stick his nose into the affair.

Johan Viken concluded that the guy was well-meaning and did not believe that he was a provocateur.  However, he was not suitable for an undercover operation.  Before they parted, Viken told him that they knew who he really was.

The same man made several questionable approaches to underground groups in Bergen.  He was told in unequivocal terms to disappear from the area, but he disregarded the warnings.  For a while the underground planned to kill him because of the threat he presented, but ultimately they did not do so.  On May 8, 1945 (the day the Germans surrendered in Norway), he could join the party with everyone else.

HOLD KJØTTKAKENE WARME (KEEP THE MEATBALLS HOT)

On October 7, Gunnar Wiig-Anderson received the following message from Home Station:

“Boat arrives Thursday night with Voss radio-operator and equipment. Will you meet the sub-destroyer by boat or do we need to contact someone else?”

The next day, Gunnar replied:

“Small motorboat will meet at Folsevag.”

“Boat arrives Folsevag Wednesday night to pick up six RAF aircrew and Voss operator.  Sufficient storage capacity for 200 boxes weighing 4.5 tons. Boxes can be camouflaged, but not all below deck.  Your boat must be on the lookout from sunset to sunrise.”

One evening, Helén Mowinckel Nilsen and one of his men were listening to the BBC in a shed in Lønningdal.  Among the coded messages was one that caused their ears to prick up: 

“Keep the meatballs hot.”

Jakob Hjelle also reacted to the message.  He was alone with his “sweetheart” in a cabin in Øvredal when he heard it.  Sweetheart was the name for radio receivers that were either brought by British agents or airdropped to resistance groups in Norway and the continent.  The message meant that they had 48 hours to get the Canadians to the pick-up location in Austevoll.

One day was like another at Little Canada.  When the residents of the cabin got tired of poker, they would wander around, going up a hill that gave them a view of the surrounding landscape.    Haldor and Pete were the ones who visited them most often, and sometimes Tobben came whistling one of the popular tunes of the time, such as “Pike, fortell meg et eventyr” (Girl, Tell Me a Story) or “Bel Amie.” The Canadians wanted to hear what the Germans were doing, but the language barrier was a problem and they had only a somewhat hazy understanding of what was going on.

On October 9, they had other things to think about – Helén, Kjell, Haldor and Jakob arrived and told them to collect their belongings and get ready to go.  

Although they looked forward to their return, it was not without regret that they prepared to leave Little Canada.  They would be leaving a refuge where they had made good friends, some of whom they would maybe never see again.  They had all felt safe at Little Canada and now were again facing uncertainties on the next leg of their journey.

“But we had to get rid of them,” as Helén once said in a more humorous context.  They had taken our attention from all our other efforts – our other work had to pay a huge price to deal with the crash-landing. 

Former police officer Hans and still strong Communist Pete wanted to go with them as an extra escort.  Jakob gave a revolver to Pete, who checked that it was loaded before he stuck it in his belt.

When the group had gone a hundred meters, the Canadians turned around and looked back to get a last view so that they could remember the cabin and its surroundings.

As evening approached, they went down the same slopes they struggled up.  It was far easier this time, not only were they going downhill, they did not have to carry heavy backpacks.  Pete came up to Helén and said that this is what it must feel like to be a Russian partisan.

The Canadians were taken aback when they saw the cliffs and overhangs they had climbed the week before.  They stopped for a moment at the rocks they had had such difficulty in climbing.  One of them asked if there wasn't some way to go around it, but Helén said that would be too time-consuming – they had gone up it in the dark and could go down it while they still had some daylight.

After some trial and error, they reached the bottom of the hill.  They waited until darkness had overtaken the valley and then set off with a spring in their steps, with Jakob and Haldor fifty meters ahead of the rest.

At one point they heard a sound from a thicket off to one side.  They stopped and listened, several with their guns at ready.  It stayed totally quiet – they had probably scared away a deer.

They got to the edge of the forest, about a hundred meters from a house.  While the rest waited, Jakob went over to satisfy himself that the coast was clear.  He knocked on the door and spoke with a man before he gave the signal for the others to follow.

Two women and one man welcomed to the house.  Although they were expecting the Canadians, it was obvious that they were nervous.  It turned out that the Germans had been there, with the main goal of finding the Canadians.  A squad of Germans had arrived at Lønningdal by boat unobserved.  Their anxiety was understandable, and Jakob immediately ordered a man outside to stand guard. 

One of the Canadians was concerned about a picture on the front page of a newspaper that lay on a table.  It was a picture of the remains of a bombed building.  He pointed at it and looked at long Kjell, who explained that the picture was of the school that had been hit during the bombing attack.

They gathered in the dining room for sour cream porridge, smoked meats – as Norwegian a meal as possible.

The plan was to take a break for a few hours; the guard could not see anything unusual.  They scattered throughout the room, stretching themselves out where they could.

It was the first time that Harvey Firestone slept in a bed that was fixed to the wall.  He fell asleep as soon as he lay down, but was soon shaken awake by Helén, who stood over him with a belt in his hand and signalled Harvey to be quiet.  Helén asked him to put the belt on around his waist instead of the belt he had on.  Harvey complied with the request without a word.  Helén told him not tell anyone.  On Shetland, he was to give the belt to the boss on the base there.  The belt carried a message in a hidden pocket.  If Harvey were imminent danger of being arrested, he had to destroy the message.  Harvey determined to see this through.  He promised to carry out Helén's directions.

In the morning it was reported that the German squad was out on patrol.  After a quick and very early breakfast, the aircrew set out with Jakob and Haldor, while Helén and Kjell went by a separate route.  Gordon Biddle and his crew shook hands and thanked the family for their hospitality.  “We'll meet again,” they said.

Jakob had ordered extra security in all directions for many miles.  They were all armed with various weapons, and the airmen had been given machine-pistols.

They had a man who had tapped into the phone system and listed to every conversation between Lønningdal and the outside world.   Another man was stationed in a field overlooking the road into town three or four kilometres up the road to Osøyro.  He was harvesting potatoes as his cover.  

The Canadians went by dory across Øvredalsvatnet to Lønningdal, and then down to the sea near where they had landed.  From there they rowed into a narrow valley some distance away and were led into a boathouse that was accessible only from the water.

In the morning, the man in the potato field reported on the secret telephone lines that a large car with officers and enlisted men had passed them heading into Lønningdal.  

Jakob immediately ordered a man to go down to the sea in Lønningdal to keep an eye on the car and another into Øvredal to warn Pete and the other man who was wanted in connection with the explosion in Bergen so that they could hide in the hills.

But so far the Germans had not noticed anything.  They stopped at Ovresdalsvatnet and two enlisted men placed a large telescope on a tripod.  An officer came up and used the telescope to search the hillsides and mountain tops.

After a quarter of an hour, they took down and stored the telescope.  They got in the car and headed towards the sea at slow speed, the officer next to the driver.  The man that Jakob had sent lay flat on top of a ledge.  He saw that they stopped at the beach, where everyone except the driver got out and looked around, the officer with regular binoculars.

But even here it appeared that they saw nothing to attract their attention.  They all got back in the car.  The driver hit the gas and the car disappeared.

TO AUSTEVOLL

Lars Orrebakken was a MilOrg fighter who had previously been to the coast to pick up weapons.  He agreed to take the pilots to Austevoll and was on the waterfront with his boat at Lønningdal at 12 o'clock, the day after the BBC had sent the coded message: “keep the meatballs hot” to both the free and occupied world.  He had over fifty liters of diesel fuel that had been taken from the sheriff's supply.

Five or six minutes before the scheduled time, Lars was out on the bay with the boat, which was named “Snøgg.”  It was powered by a type of engine known as a “semi-diesel” and also known in Norwegian as an “oppfyringsmotor.”
 

The men in the potato field reported that the German bike patrol was on its way into Lønningdal.  Jakob and Helén had hoped to get the flight crew out before they patrol arrived, but they decided that the best approach would be to wait until they passed.

Fortunately, Lars saw the patrol up in the hills, so changed course and kept his boat out on the water.

The soldiers stopped in the road overlooking the boathouse where the Canadians were hidden and took a break from their beat.  They were obviously having a competition to see who could walk the farthest along a beam.  They had to do something to amuse themselves in a place where so little happened.  They told jokes and laughed before climbing back on their bikes.  Both the Canadians and the Norwegians watched them through cracks in the walls.  Several of them had beads of sweat on their foreheads.

Once the patrol had disappeared down the road from the sea, Snøgg headed back into the dock.  Haldor would go on the voyage.  Jakob equipped him with a Sten-gun with five ammunition clips.  They were going to have to communicate with hand signs and gestures because Lars, like Haldor, did not know English.

Before the boat headed back out, the aircrew thanked Jakob for everything he had done for them.  Perhaps they could expect to meet again in a world where war and fighting had been done away with.  They never fully understood his role in the hierarchy of the underground, but they knew that even though he was quiet and even taciturn, his word was law in these otherwise lawless times.

Helén's parting words were that he wanted to visit Canada after the war and climb to the top of Mount Logan with all of them.

On board the Snøgg, only the skipper and Haldor were visible.  As they headed out towards Bjørnafjord, they could count nearly 20 warships, most of them surface ships.  As they passed them, sometimes as close as a half cable-length away, they would wave and the sailors waved back.

When they passed by the u-boat base, Haldor nudged Gordon Biddle with his foot to tell him to take a look, because the pilot wanted to memorize the landmarks there in the event that he would one day return in a new bomber.

Lars did not set a direct course to Austevoll, which would have seemed suspicious, even now two weeks after the crash-landing.  Besides which, he had lots of time.  He swung Snøgg to the south of an island near Tysnes.  It was a well-protected location and they waited there a couple of hours.  

When Lars started up again, the passengers were surprised to see him light a lantern and place it sizzling on top of the boat's engine.  When it became red hot, he pulled the flywheel as hard as he could.  The engine came to life with a cough, and when it was running steadily, he put out the lamp.

The Canadians had never seen anyone start a semi-diesel before.  They had seen Bjørnafjord from the air once before and if their facial expressions were anything to judge by, they were wondering if they would ever see it from above again.

Snøgg headed out undamaged over the fjord to tiny Ospøy far to the east in Austevoll.  The aircrew went ashore there, and the two boat crew-members bade them farewell and headed home, still in broad daylight.

They scrambled over a few rocks so that they could not be seen by passing boats and to their great surprise saw a strange-looking man.  He was tall and extremely thin, and had a package under his arm.  On his head was something that looked like a sailors uniform hat, but it was just a fishing cap.  When they talked to him, he replied in a mixture of Portuguese and Norwegian, with a dash of German and an occasional English word thrown in for good measure.  He made it clear that he would join and go west with them.  Since he was alone and apparently unarmed, they did not perceive him as a threat.  He was the brother of Torvald Jakobsen, who was one of the MilOrg fighters who helped them during the early part of their time in Norway.

 Fishing boat captain Sverre Østervall was the primary contact for the Shetland boat operations in Austevoll.  He was the intermediary between Shetland and the various underground groups in Bergen.  He had received some information from a contact in Bergen, a ship chandler who in turn had contacts with the Redwing organization.  Sverre always used the ship chandler to provision his boat, and it was the same man who had connections with Louis Pettersen.
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Sverre Østervall

After a short while, a boat appeared with two men on board on a course for Ospøy.  As it approached, the Canadians hid so that they could not be seen from the boat, but the strange man who had spoken to them got up and motioned for the Canadians to follow him.  They went down to the boat, where a man who was relieving himself over the side waved them on board.  As soon as the last man was on deck, the boat backed out onto the fjord.  The boat was longer and wider than any of the others they had been on.

The Canadians wondered a bit about the boat, with its peeling paint and brown tattered sails rolling around the boom, it looked like an old-fashioned smuggling vessel.  They were right about the smuggling. In recent years the boat had carried agents and weapons into the country, although in the service of the king.

The skipper pointed both with his head and one hand that they should go below deck, where they gathered in a narrow cabin.  Sverre asked them if they wanted to smoke.  When several of them nodded eagerly, he gave them a small tin of tobacco and papers so they could roll their own.

The mood had improved considerably in the last few minutes and rose another notch when they saw that the tobacco container proclaimed that its contents were exclusive to the Royal Navy.  When they took off the lid, they found fresh fine-cut tobacco.  The aroma told them that this was something totally different from the homegrown they had been offered in Norway.

One the Canadians said that even at this stage he could not completely free himself of the idea that maybe the people they had met were not completely what they seemed.  The very fact that they had landed in the middle of a heavily fortified district and had been led safely from one place to another was in itself some reason for suspicion.  But the tobacco pointed in the opposite direction because it at least indirectly showed that the boat crew had some form of contact with allied naval units.

Two of the Canadians were with Sverre in the wheelhouse.  His English was not perfect, but he was easy to understand, especially with all the gestures, and showed them that they had to go below deck again if something unexpected should occur.  Sverre's helper was on deck fiddling with the lines.

The boat had gone a couple of nautical miles when another boat rounded a cape that not only came straight at them but came up alongside.  It did not look good, but both the boat and the man who stood and controlled it looked familiar.  It was Einar Evensen who had came to say good bye.  He saluted them and moved his hand across the brim of his hat to wish them good luck.  He waved and bowed.  It was Einar who had brought the man who had greeted them in Ospøy.

When Sverre had gone a few more miles among the islands and islets and nothing had happened, the Canadians began slowly to believe that sooner or later when they looked up, the land they would see would be Britain.  

But instead of King George V's islands to the west, they got a glimpse of one of King Haakon's windswept islands beneath an autumn sky.  It was called Kjøpmannsholmen and was very close to the shipping channel.  It was near here that the aircrew were scheduled to be picked up for the last leg of their journey.

They landed near a shed on the island.  It probably wasn't necessary to remind them, but the skipper told them that it was absolutely essential that they stay out of sight.  He told them that he would come back at night when he would take them to the rendezvous with the boat that would take them to Shetland and freedom.  Because of the code message about meatballs, he thought that it would not be too long to wait.  The six Canadians and the man who had met them at Ospøy disappeared into the shed.

There had been a quarry on the island, and the shed stood as testimony to the past activity.  The building was dirty, drafty and divided into two rooms.  On one side had bunks, a table and a small window that looked out onto the shipping lanes.  The second part had been used as a barn and still smelled of sheep.  The Canadians were not bothered at all by its condition – they would soon be headed home.

Their new travel companion was dressed in several layers of clothing.  When it became too hot for him indoors, he took off some clothes and made a pack of them.  Some handmade repairs showed that the took care of his own wardrobe.  In his striking language, he made it clear to them that he had been hiding from the Germans for some time and had to go to England to find shelter.

The six Canadians did what they could so that the Norwegian would not feel left out, but they needn’t have worried about a man who had spent time with many nationalities.  He had sailed the seven seas, and in Norway had provided intelligence to allied agents.  He had even been on board the Altmark, the German supply ship hat know when became internationally known when forces from the British destroyer HMS Cossack boarded it in Jossingfjord a few months before the occupation of Norway and freed a number of British prisoners being held on board.

The Norwegian had a picture of the Altmark, and gave it to Harvey, who took care of it.

The north wind howled and swirled around the landscape and into the shed.  The Canadians and the Norwegian tried to stuff openings and cracks in the wall with a newspaper they had found tossed in a corner.  For once, the Nazi-controlled Norwegian press had come in handy.    As always, they tried to share equally, and rotated among the four bunks.

At night they were so excited and anxious that they were not able to sleep for long, but walked around the shed as long as there were no boats nearby.  They had not eaten for a while and were both thirsty and hungry, but they had no food.  The endless hours passed slowly.  Every time they heard the sound of a boat motor they hid and hoped it was the boat that was coming to pick them up, but each time they were disappointed.

Sverre Østervoll had intended to bring them food, but the enemy activity on the water was too intense that he saw that there was no way to get through, not even to relay the coded message that he had received by phone that the arrival of the boat from Shetland was postponed.

Slowly the night turned into day, and the men on Kjøpmannsholmen continued to wait until day again became night for someone to come for them.

Wehrmacht Marine patrol units headed right past them, some going north to Korsfjord and others headed south to Selbjørnsfjorden.  Through cracks in the wall, the seven watched both the German patrols and locals from Austevoll who were out fishing in small boats.  Once a patrol-boat went past at full speed, sending waves high up over the rocks.  Sometimes patrol-boats swung in to land at several of the neighbouring islands, and the spectators in the shed began to wonder what might happened if on the the patrol-boats became interested in the island they were hiding on.

After darkness had finally shrouded the islands and the shed, they could finally venture out and stretch their legs.

They had passed the first day on the island with small-talk, but as the second day passed the conversation had taken a more serious turn.  They pondered what they would do if no one appeared on the third day either.  They were in the same situation they had been in while they waited in the woods at Bjørnatrynet – no matter what happened they had no choice but to stay where they were.  As they grew hungrier and hungrier, they thought of Marta and how she had brought them the basket of waffles and eggs.

Near the shed was a small water reservoir.  Maurice Neil wanted to quench his thirst, and filled a flask with water and treated it with water purifying tablets before drinking.  It worked well for him, but two of the others who did the same became sick and were gagging for hours afterward.  

Thirst and hunger and the stench from the barn kept them awake most of the night.  They needed sleep, but also wanted to stay awake in case someone came to get them.

They weather showed no signs of improvement.  To the contrary, the wind continued to blast the island, with only short intervals of calm, and they continued to be very, very cold.  

VIGRA GOES TO SEA

The base where British intelligence supported operations to Norway was set up in Scalloway in the Shetland Islands in the summer of 1942.  It originally operated with fishing boats and other small craft, but in late autumn of 1943, the small boats were replaced with three American subchasers – the Hessa, the Hitra and the Vigra.

With guns pointing in every direction, they looked like hedgehogs.  They were equipped with a 40 mm Bofors gun, on each side aft of the bridge deck they had dual 20 mm Oerlikons, and aft they had a powerful six pounder known elsewhere as a “Pom-Pom” but that the Shetlanders had Norwegianized to Pong-Pong.  Two Colt machine guns were mounted on the bridge, one on each side.  They were also equipped with radar.

It was quite a transition for the Norwegians when they took their sailor's bags onto the subchasers.  They had been accustomed to one fifty horsepower Wichmann semi-diesel that could manage 7 or 8 knots in fine weather.  When attacked by aircraft, they either had a Lewis machine-gun hidden in a barrel or simply hand-held machine-guns.  With the new ships they had repeatedly fought off the enemy, and even with patrols more frequent on the Norwegian coast, they were confident that they would survive any encounter.

With the old boats, they had always had to say, if we don't make it today, we should get there tomorrow.  With the sub-destroyers, and their two engines that together produced 2400 horsepower, they could provide a lot more certainty about arrival and departure times unless heavy seas slowed them down.  The nominal cruising speed of the boats was 15 knots, but if pressed, they could push the speed up a few knots and could possibly manage 20 knots.  There were times when they had urgent assignments on the coast and would go at full speed for hours at a time.

“There is nothing better at sea in storm and foul weather,” said Shetland Larsen when asked about the boats, and if anyone knew what he was talking about, it was he.

In their second year, the sub-destroyers were busier than ever.  There was less traffic in the winter months, but by August 1944 they had set up routes over the North Sea to harbours from Sunnhordland in the south far up into Nordland.  Agents, weapons and explosives were landed, and agents and refugees were boarded for the return trip.

Things had gone well with the new boats with one exception.  Things could have gone very badly for the Hessa, but luck was with them.  In early October, they brought a load of agents and cargo to Nordhordland, but when the boat was 20 to thirty miles west of Utvær light on the return trip, the boat was attacked from the air.

Half an hour earlier, a plan had flown over the Hessa.  The Hessa sounded an alarm, but nothing more happened and the plane flew off.  As usual, a man was on watch on the top bridge.  The second-in-command was on the bridge, along with the helmsman, and the alarm sounded again.  A plane flew over and this time attacked.  Two depth-charges hit the water on one side of the ship, and a third off the bow.  The pressure from the explosions raised the sub-destroyer clear out of the water, and all electrical power was lost.  Everything was thrown helter-skelter in the engine-room.  The second-in-command grabbed hold of a ladder and with closed eyes felt the ship crash down.  But Hessa righted itself and continued on course.  The machinist in charge of the engine-room had also been thrown across the room, but he managed to get the electrical power restored immediately.

The Hessa opened fire, but its crew then began to wonder as the plane turned on a very powerful searchlight, and they had seen only Allied aircraft with that capability.  The Hessa sent Morse messages with their call sign, and the plane disappeared immediately.  Afterward, it was determined that the plane was Canadian and had taken Hessa for a German submarine in the dark.  The Hessa had been damaged and had to be in dry-dock for two or three weeks, but was then put back into service as good as new.

Now, they had to deal with Canadians again, although in a different way, and hopefully it was not the same crew that had attacked the Hessa.  This time it was the crew of a Wellington that had made an emergency landing in Os.

The logs showed that on October 11, Shetland Larsen and a couple of his men met with the British commander of the base and were briefed on a new mission.  The commander was named Arthur William Sclater, but few knew his real name – on the base he went by Major Rogers.  He used the pseudonym because he was married to a Norwegian woman, and with all the people going to Norway and the risk of capture and torture, he didn't want the Germans to learn that the commander of the British activities directed against Norway had family in Norway.

Larsen was well known in Os.  His father was from there and he had sailed in the islands in his younger years.  From intelligence reports he know that there were several German strongholds in the area with long-range guns and that the German navy conducted exercises in Bjørnafjord.  He did not see any reason for optimism.  He could not fathom how a bomber could have landed in this hornet's nest without its crew being captured.  Be that as it may, Larsen's next task was to pick up the crew at Austevoll.

The Shetland base had learned from experience that it was safer that refugees and others needing to leave Norway make their way out to the coast rather than have the sub-destroyers go into the fjords and retrieve them.

The base commander had charts of the water around Austevoll in front of him and pointed to a small island and told them that they had to rendezvous there.  He told them they had received reports that in recent months the enemy patrol activity had increased in the area.  

The second-in-command of the base once wrote: “No plan was too crazy for Larsen.”  He was talking about an attempt to sink the Tirpitz by having a Norwegian boat tow two submerged midget submarines into Trondheimsfjord.

The base commander walked to down to the Vigra and wished the crew good sailing.  The chief engineer immediately went down to the engine room. In addition to the already stored load of weapons for the underground, the ship carried a radio-operator who would be landed when the Canadians were picked up.  In minutes, the 21 man crew was in place and the supplies were loaded and stored on board.

While a few of the crew of the other sub-destroyers stood on the dock and shouted encouragement, the Vigra backed out and did a loop inside the harbour before Larsen headed the boat forward and opened the throttle.  The sub-destroyer plowed northward along the coast, with a collection of hungry gulls hovering over the aft gun.

Once they had passed Muckle Flugga, the northernmost point of the Shetland Islands, the skipper ordered full speed ahead. 

The navigation officer bent over a table and studied the charts.  His name was Alfred Remøy and was from Sunnmore.  He had the reputation of setting a straight course home for Vigra, even if that meant going through places that could be crossed only at high tide.  

An Allied Catalina flying-boat flew over them on an easterly course, and the radio-operator sent a friendly flare to signal the sub-destroyer

The weather began to worsen, and the Vigra plowed through heavy swells without reducing speed.

STORMY RETURN

The wind began to abate after a few hours, and they had a fresh breeze and moderate sea at the time the Vigra first saw the Norwegian coast late on October 11.  

“Marstein light” said the navigation officer a he stared at the land with night binoculars, “no vessels in sight.”  The skipper was also looking through binoculars, as was the watch on the top bridge.

Around midnight, Vigra turned slightly to starboard with all guns manned and sound attenuators engaged.

The Marstein light was not lit.  During the war, the Germans lit it only on special occasions, such as when heavy cruisers were heading in to Bergen, but it flashed some smaller lights shoreward to assist regular internal boat traffic.

Larsen looked through his binoculars without interruption towards the islands.  He knew that the German speedboats were much faster than his subchaser.  The navigation officer could see the starboard green light from a vessel that was further inland to the south, most probably a cargo vessel or fishing vessel.

With sailors manning all stations, Vigra wound its way between Store Kalsøy and Horgo, then turned to starboard and slipped between Horgo and Hundvåko.  The area was filled with numerous islands and islets and sheer cliffs.

There were sill no patrol vessels in sight.  Vigra headed into the south end of Hundvåko and  Følesvåg, the planned destination agreed to in the exchange of messages between Redwing and London.  Vigra edged in and set station close to shore beside a crag.  They stayed there in the darkness, with the engines shut down.  If a hostile vessel came by, it could only see Vigra if it turned a searchlight on it.

The crew busied themselves carrying cargo onto shore and hiding the munitions and supplies in a mountain gorge.
The skipper hoped that everything was okay with the people who would be delivering the aircrew to the rendezvous.  It was always a nervous time to be in inland waters, because they could not rule out the possibility that the underground group could have been compromised and that they would be met by Germans rather than their intended contacts.

A small motorboat made its way a few fathoms past the Vigra with two men in sou'westers in the stern.  They probably had no idea how closely they were watched.

The skipper stepped down on deck.  He exchanged a few quiet words with the sailors who manned one of the Oerlikons guns, and they all hoped that it would not be too long to wait.  The Chief Engineer took a turn on deck, wiping his hands on a rag.  He was from a small town just north of Ålesund.

The navigation officer was at his station and studied charts working out the return course.

The third day was the same as the preceding ones for the six Canadians and one Norwegian.  They sat indoors waiting for the night.  They knew very well that they had nothing else to do but wait.  They could only hope that nothing had happened to upset the plans.  The thought of being there another day and night was not bearable.  The only entertainment they had was to listen to the Norwegian and his mixture of Norwegian, Portuguese, German and English, and trying to figure out what he was saying.  They all enjoyed his presence.

Suddenly, Sverre arrived.  They had not heard a sound before he knocked on the door.  He had a smaller boat this time, and had stopped the engines and rowed in the last few meters.  On his way to Kjøpmannsholmen, he had observed several patrol boats.

Later he said that when he stuck his head into the doorway and nodded to them, he saw only smiling faces.

He got them on board in a hurry, and they soon were over the bar.  The others didn't know where they were going, but could only see things close to their course.  In a passage between two islands, they were so close to a steep rock that they could have spat on it.  They were going full speed at the time.

The boat then slowed, and they caught a glimpse of the outline of a vessel that at night seemed pretty big.  Sverre manoeuvred to a ladder that was dropped from the rail amidships.

“Land-crabs first,” said the Norwegian with a gallant bow, and the men climbed up on board, with Gordon last of the crew.  The sailors on the ship helped pull them on deck.

Sverre enjoyed seeing the crew member's reactions as they went on board.  The ship's captain welcomed them on board.  But the Canadians had expected a British ship, and the hats these sailors were wearing seemed to resemble those worm by Germans.

All the nagging misgivings finally disappeared when they were taken to the mess.  When the Canadians arrived, a steward brought the best he had to offer – hot tea, coffee, bread and various other dishes. 

There were no problems with the language either, because there were English speakers on board.  The steward was very interested in the Canadians' story, and they could tell him in broad terms what had taken place.  There was little risk in telling their story, because they still did not know the real names of their helpers or exactly where they had been.

The ship began to vibrate with horsepower.  Vigra set off, again with sailors manning the guns, and they were soon away into the night.  Two nautical miles west of Marstein light the sound attenuators were disengaged and the engines given full throttle.

They slowed when a storm hit.  The sub-destroyer made its tumbling way over mountainous seas.  Spray splashed the bridge and beat on the windows.  Visibility was minimal on the bridge and no one could venture outside.

“This reminds me of the time you and I took the Arthur through bad weather west of Florø,” the skipper said to the Chief Engineer, who had come up to take the wheel.  He was referring to a memorable trip in late 1941 when they barely managed to limp back to land in their cutter.

The passengers were in the crew cabin and tried to sleep.  Almost everyone was seasick.  Harvey was the only one who dozed, but not for long.  He was roused by a sailor who said that the radio-operator was too sick to man his post, and the skipper had asked if any of the flight crew could operate the radio equipment.  Harvey spent most of the night as the ship's radio operator, receiving Morse Code messages.

In the afternoon, the weather lifted and for the first time in weeks the Canadians could see Allied territory as the rounded the north coast of Shetland Island.  On October 12, 1944, the Vigra docked at the pier in Scalloway on Shetland Island.

Finally, the Canadians had returned from their patrol, but not in the usual way.  This time they did not land their plane and give the formal “Duty properly carried out” report to the duty officer.

As soon as the Vigra had docked, a British army captain presented himself to the Canadians as the deputy base commander.  He would be in charge of them while they stayed in Shetland.  They needed to consider themselves under close arrest, which was technically their situation, but only a formality, until they were cleared by military intelligence.  He left them for a short while and returned with two other officers who escorted them to a large building.  The building was the base hospital, where they could finally take a decent bath.

Afterward, they were examined by a doctor who had been flown in from a nearby RAF base.  There were also new clothes for them, and then they sat down around a table laden with food.

After the first sit-down meal on land for a long time, they gathered in a lounge and were joined by several of the officers of the Vigra and both naval and base officers.  The deputy commander told them they would be flown south to London the next morning where they would be debriefed by MI9.

An officer greeted them and introduced himself as Major Rogers, the base commander.  He invited them to send telegrams to their families in Canada to assure them they were still alive.  The telegrams would be expedited so that they arrived before word of their safe return was made known through official channels.

Major Rogers added that he believed that one of the crew had a message for him, and suggested that the person come to his office the next morning.

After breakfast, Harvey Firestone was escorted into Rogers's office.  Rogers took the belt Harvey gave him, opened it, and took a look at the contents and thanked Harvey.

Harvey rejoined his crew-mates, and they were soon on their way to London, but not before the deputy commander had assured them that messages would go out over the BBC over the next few days letting those who had helped then in Norway that they had made it safe and sound back to Britain.

Later, Harvey said that the crew's own part in the success of evading capture by the Germans 

was limited to the first 14 or 15 hours after the landing.  Everything after that was the result of their Norwegian helpers.  The result was, to use Magnus Hauge's term, six sacks of potatoes delivered as ordered.

Jakob and Helén and several others of their group were quietly and hopefully gathered round a radio in a cabin in Indregardane.  They were like expectant fathers waiting in the corridor outside the delivery room at a hospital.  They listened to the numerous coded messages from the BBC and finally they heard:

“Det regner i fjellet. (It is raining in the mountains)”

This message told those who had been involved in Os and in Austevoll, and the Redwing radio-operator in Bergen, that the Canadians were safely back in Britain.  The next happy moment came when Jakob reached into the bottom of a bag and pulled out a whole bottle of aquavit, and said: “Grab your glass, Lange Johannes.”

It was an unforgettable day for the relatives of the crew back in Canada.  On October 14 they received the news that all six had returned together safe and sound.  The telegrams were signed by the RAF Casualties Officer.

While the crew had hoped to return to duty, that did not happen.  For security reasons, five of the six returned to Canada and no longer hunted u-boats.  The sixth was co-pilot George Death, who remained in England, but only to get married.

All six survived the war.

AFTERWORD

Wellington
First test flight: 1936 

Entered active service: 1938

Top speed: approx 400 km/hr

Wingspan: 26.3 meters

Length: 19 meters

Range: 2478 km

Armaments:
Machine guns

Payload: 2041 kg

Maximum take-off weight:  14 metric tons

The Vickers Wellington was the most important RAF bomber at the beginning of World War II.  

11,500 units were built.  It was the only British bomber built over the entire duration of the war.

The aircraft's long range made it versatile.  In the early years of World War II it was widely used for night bombing over the continent before those types of missions were taken over by Lancasters and Halifaxes –  four-engined heavy bombers.  Wellingtons were then put to other uses, including anti-submarine patrols in the North Sea and Atlantic.

The school headmaster who was the first on the scene when the Wellington landed in Os was named Magnus Askvik.  His 13 year old son was also with him.  A brother who was a few younger was kept inside the house by his mother.

It is not certain that the emergency landing inspired them, but both brothers became pilots.  Later in life they both told their pilot colleagues about the emergency landing and showed them the landing sight.  Without exception their colleagues were astonished that the crew survived.  They all agreed that Gordon Biddle's landing of the plane on that location was an extraordinary achievement.

The English-speaking woman that Maurice Neil met at Bjørnen was Ingeborg Bjørnen, and the young woman who he first met and who took them up to the cave was Marta Bruarøy.

As mentioned in the text, Harvey Firestone gave Marta an orange to thank her for her help.  Only later did it strike him how revealing this would have been if it had been discovered.  Years later, Marta told him that she understood the danger and had not eaten it right away, but hid it away from the house.

The two men who traveled from Bjørnen to Bjørnarøy and told Einar Evensen about the contact with the aircrew were Ingeborg's father Hans Bjørnen and Johannes Ferstadvoll.   Ferstadvoll was the man who went with Ingeborg to take Canadians down to the sea to be picked up by the Islanders.  

Magnus K. Røttingen's companion in the motorboat in Bjørnafjord when they were ready to act as decoys if they saw patrol boats go after Einar Evensen's boat was Sigvald Røttingen.

When the Canadians were taken to Øvredal, they were taken to a house where they were fed.  The woman who provided the food was Marta Øvredal.

The real name of the police officer the Canadians knew as Hans at Little Canada was Ivar Dyngeland.

“Pete,” the man who was in hiding because he was sought by the Germans for the “bombing” at the port in Bergen on April 20, 1944 was Rolf Olsen.  He had nothing to do with the accident.  

The man who was called Tobben at Little Canada was really called Torbjørn M. Lyssand.

When the flight-crew left Botnane (the area around Little Canada), the house in Øvredal where they were served typical Norwegian food belonged to Knut Øvredal.  Sisters Ingeborg and Marta Øvredal were responsible for the food.

The man who sat in a boathouse eavesdropping on telephone messages was Edvard Lønningdal.  He was the son of he woman who ran the store in Lønningdal.

Alf Heggland was the man who picked potatoes in Heddlandsdalen as an additional lookout.  It was he who reported to Lønningdal that a car with German officers and enlisted men were on the way in.

The man whom Jakob Hjelle sent down to the sea to watch the Germans was Edward Lønningdal.  Haldor Øvredal's brother Fredrik was the one who warned Rolf Olsen and the other man, Trygve Haves, who was being sought for the explosion.  Fredrik was the man who built the cabin that became known as Little Canada.

The store manager of the ship's chandler in Bergen and who had contact with Sverre Østervoll, was Edvard Navdahl.  He also had links to the Louis Pettersen organization, which in turn had contact with the radio-operator Gunnar Wiig-Andersen.

The man who was with Sverre Østervoll when the Canadians were taken from Ospøy to Kjøpmannsholmen was Sverre Monsen.

The radio operator brought by the Vigra on the trip when the Canadians were picked up was Finn Olsvik.  He was taken east by Sverre Østervoll and his first posting was on Ystås farm in Granvin.

The sailor who greeted the Canadians at Ospøy was Johannes Jakobsen.

Around a month after the Canadians had left Norway, the Germans went into action in Os, with the Gestapo in the lead.  

All the roads were blocked, and the Germans made major inroads into MilOrg's ranks.  The Germans arrested about 90 people, and a similar number managed to avoid arrest.  One man died from the injuries he suffered while being tortured by the Gestapo, and several others were badly tortured.

The raid had no connection with the Canadians, even if the Germans had distributed alerts after the incident because they knew that the Canadians must have had help from some local people.  A radio-operator who worked for the underground and had his station at Søre Neset was arrested.  The raids, what were conducted in two rounds about a week apart, were one of the largest Gestapo operations in Norway during the war.
Magnus Hauge was arrested on November 17.  He remained a prisoner until the end of the war..

Jakob Hjelle was one of the lucky ones.  He got notice of the raids in time and was able to get away into the woods and stayed in hiding for the rest of the occupation.

The XU Courier Johan Viken went to England shortly after the Canadians escaped, and returned by plane in March 1945.

Another with luck on his side was Einar Evensen.  He was not at home on the day the Gestapo went to Bjørnarøy to arrest him.  By chance, he was in Bergen, where he was warned by another man from Oyane, and along with several MilOrg members went into hiding in Fusa.  Later he and 30 others went to the Masfjorden (also known as Matre) Mountains, which are located on the borders of Hordaland, Sogn, and Fjordane, where the Linge Company had a base known as Bjørn West. 

When the Gestapo did not find Einar Evensen, his mother Pernille Evensen was arrested as a hostage, but she was released a month later.

Lars Orrebakken was among those who managed to make it into hiding and joined the groups in the Matre Mountains.  Ivar Dyngeland also joined them there.

Helén Mowinckel Nilsen also was not arrested.

Magnus K. Røttingen and Torvald Jakobsen stayed hidden for a while, but ventured out into the open again when it became clear that the Germans were not looking for them, even though they had transported weapons and supplies from Austevoll to Os.  They were never discovered, even though the Germans came close a few times.

Haldor Øvredal continued to provide cover to those who needed it, and his luck stayed with him.

One of the men who rowed the Canadians to Strøno, Hans H. Holmefjord, fled to Austevoll when the Gestapo conducted their raids.  He went to Granvin, where he ended up on a small farm where a wireless operator had his station.  The radio-operator was Finn Olsvik, who had come on the Vigra on the trip that picked up the Canadians.  But one day the farm was surrounded by a troop of German soldiers.  There was an exchange of fire, and one resistance member was killed.  Holmefjord was arrested and remained in prison for the rest of the occupation, but the Germans never learned that he had been involved in the rescue of the crew of the Wellington.  Both Finn Olsvik and the owner of the farm managed to avoid being captured.

The Norwegian-American who was used as a translator when the Canadians were picked up from Bjørnatrynet was named Nils Røttingen.  He was never arrested.

Hanna Bjørnen, sister of Ingeborg, was arrested at their home in Bjørnen.  Three Germans came to the house and asked, among other things, where the “American” airmen were.  She denied knowing anything.  She also remained in German custody until the end of the war.

By July 1944, there were 14 men in hiding in the area around Øvredal.  The situation was starting to calm down a little after the major Gestapo raids.  

At that time, Helén decided to leave the Os district.  He left Jakob Hjelle in charge of both companies.  Hjelle remained in command for the remaining months of the war.  By the end of the war, the two companies totaled 215 men.

One of the men in hiding in the neighbouring kommune of Fusa came to Lønningdal with a boat to pick up Helén, who went with his rucksack.  They headed north and arrived safely at Nordåsvatnet fjord in Fana.  Helén landed at Skjoldbukta, but there were no underground connections he could turn to there.  

He moved into a large boathouse and hid himself in one of the boats.  Things went well until one day the the owner of the boathouse arrived.  The owner was shocked at first, but understood the situation quickly when Helén spoke with him.  The owner gave Helén a small electric oven and a supply of food to last until New Year's.

Helén went to Bjørn West on January 10, 1945.  The base there had grown to two companies totalling 260 men, and Helén commanded one of the companies.  Many of the men were underground members who he had trained in weapons handling.  At the very end of the war, the Germans attacked in force.  Bjørn West was defended bravely, but they lost six fighters, and the Germans had one old farmer put to death.
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Helén Getting A Haircut

Gordon Biddle and the members of his crew never forgot their Norwegian helpers who had helped without question or hesitation, despite the fact that the Germans made it clear than anyone who even saw the crew and didn't report it would be shot.

The Canadian Minister of Veteran Affairs wrote the following letter on April 27, 1966.

To the residents of Os

Those who carry this letter recently told me about their emergency landing in your area in September 1944.

They told me  about the excellent cooperation and you gave them, at great personal risk, to save them from arrest and a long miserable life as prisoners of war, and about the efforts to return them safely to England.

Personally, I well understand the crew's warm feeling towards you, because I was in an aircraft that was shot down in World War II.  I was not as lucky as these men, and I remained a prisoner of war for many uncomfortable months.

Therefore, on behalf of the government and people of Canada, I wish to salute you for your brave actions in those now long-past days.  I also convey my personal thanks and the thanks from every veteran in Canada.

Yours truly

Roger J. Taillet

The letter was personally delivered by Harvey Firestone and Maurice Neil, who returned to Os with their wives.

The letter was presented to Helén Mowinckel Nilsen on May 29, 1966.

The visit by the Canadians provided an occasion for a reunion of those who had been part of the underground efforts to rescue the Canadians or who had been in direct contact with them.  Those attending included:  Magnus Askvik, Ingeborg Bjørnen, Einar Evensen, Magnus Hauge, Jakob Hjelle, Torvald Jakobsen, Leif A. Larsen (Shetland Larsen), Edvard Lønningdal, Lars Orrebakken, Magnus K. Røttingen, Nils Røttingen, Haldor Øvredal and Marta Øvredal. 

Harvey and his wife Dorothy visited Os more than once after the war. Harvey's last visit was in September 2004, to mark the 60th anniversary of the emergency landing and escape.  Dorothy had died in March of that year.

In 1979, Harvey had an unexpected encounter.  He was again planning to visit his friends in Os.  On the day of his departure, he left work shortly after noon, even though they were not leaving until evening.  To pass the time, he went to a gym to work out.  In the locker room, he met a friend and told him that he and his wife were going to Norway.  The man asked why they would go there.

While Harvey was telling his story, a man came out of the shower and appeared to be interested in what Harvey was saying.  After the friend left, the man came up to Harvey and said that he too had been in Norway at the time the Wellington landed.  

Harvey was of course curious, especially because the man spoke English with a pronounced German accent.  So Harvey asked him what he was doing in Norway at that time.  The man looked Harvey straight in the eyes and pointed a finger at his face and said:

“I was looking for you.”

He told Harvey that he had been a soldier in the Wehrmacht in the quartermaster corps in Bergen.  His duty was to buy fish and other foods from local fishermen and farmers.  He was very aware of the emergency landing of the Wellington, because he was taken off his regular work and employed on the search.  When he had been in the Os area for four days participating in the search, and had combed the hills along with soldiers from the local garrison, they were reinforced by regular troops transferred to the Bergen district.
He said that more than four thousand soldiers were involved in the search for the flight-

crew, and that for some time the search was the main task for the entire garrison in the 

Bergen district.
He said that he and many of his countrymen could not help but admire the Norwegians for their strong national pride and the strong negative attitude they had to the German occupation of their country.

In 1999, a commemorative monument was unveiled in Haugland at Søre Neset, on the location where the Wellington made its emergency landing on the hill.

DEFINITIONS 
Kommune  – a political subdivision of Norway.  Norway is currently divided into 19 fylker (administrative regions) and 430 kommuner (regional municipalities), although there used to be more Kommuner – some have consolidated.  Fylke is usually translated as county and kommune as municipality, but a kommune performs some of the functions that an American county performs and includes both urban and rural areas.  A kommune has somewhat similar functions to an Ontario regional municipality.  Kommuner are responsible for education through 10th grade, outpatient health services, senior citizens services, social services including unemployment, zoning, economic development and local roads and streets. A kommune usually contains more than one town.  
Labour Service was a forced labour program introduced in Norway in 1941 for men 20 years old and older.  It was modeled after the German pattern, with emphasis on drills and ideological propaganda.

Port is the left side of the vessel viewed facing forward on the boat.

Dory is a small boat for fishing and hunting, typically with a flat bottom.

Fathom is an old measure of distance.  A fathom is 1.8288 meters.  The term mostly disappeared in Norway with the introduction of the metric system in 1887, but is still used, especially among fishermen and others who work on the sea.

Flak is a German word for anti-aircraft artillery, it is an abbreviation for Fliegerabwehrkanone.

Lean-to is a primitive hut, with two walls of foliage or bushes, and a sloping tarpaulin roof. It is typically built into a hillside, with the slope of the terrain forming the back wall, and with an open front.  The Norwegian word is “gapahuk,” with “gap” referring to the open front.

Gestapo was the abbreviation for Geheime Staatspolizei, the Nazi secret police.

Hirden were Vidkun Quisling's body guard and the troops of his National Union party.

Ice Front  refers to the terse and silent attitude of Norwegians towards the occupation.

Linge Company was a group based in Great Britain in the summer of 1941 to carry out assignments in Norway.  It was created by the SOE (see below).  It was named after the company's first chief, Martin Linge.

Nautical Mile is 1852 meters.  A cable length is one tenth of a nautical mile.

Spanker is an old name for aft-mast.

MilOrg (abbreviation for Military Organization) was the name for the underground military resistance organization in Norway.  It grew from its humble beginnings in 1940 to a force of 40,000 men at the end of the occupation.  

MI9  (Military Intelligence 9) refers to Section 9 of the British Military Intelligence organization.

National Union (Nasjonal Samling or NS) was the Norwegian Nazi party led by Vidkun Quisling.

Rubb is the sailor's term for the Wichmann engine, which was made at Rubbestadneset in Bremnes county.

SabOrg is the abbreviation for the Communist-led Sabotage Organization.

Sipo (Sicherkeitspolizei) includes the Gestapo and the German Criminal Police (Kripo).  In August 1939, the SD (Sicherheitsdienst) was joined with SIPO in a single organization.

SIS (Secret Intelligence Service) was the British intelligence organization.  Often shortened to Secret Service.

SOE (Special Operations Executive) was a British organization founded in the summer of 1940 to conduct secret resistance activities in German-occupied territories.  A Norwegian Section of SOE was formed on January 1, 1942, under the leadership of British Colonel John Skinner Wilson.  

SS (Schutz-Staffel) was originally a German armed unit formed as a bodyguard for Adolf Hitler.  SS was the lead political terror organization of the Nazis and developed into a large military force.  The SS administered concentration camps.

Stapo was the abbreviation for Statspolitiet, the Norwegian Nazi police, formed in 1941.  (Note that there was a different group with the same name from 1931-1936.

Starboard is the right side of a vessel when facing the bow (front).

Code phrase was a phrase broadcast by the BBC to underground groups in occupied countries, meaningless to anyone other than the sender and receiver.  

Tilje – A Norwegian word for a board at the bottom of a small boat to stand or step on.

Thwart – A seat set crosswise in a small boat, such as the one used by a rower.

Very pistol. A hand held pistol that shoots flares, including flares of different colours.  Very flares were used by air and naval forces, both Allied and Axis, to identify themselves.  There were many different color combinations that were changed every few hours.  Named after Edward V. Very, an American artillery officer.

Main Spar  was a spar (or beam) that joined the wings through the fuselage on some aircraft, including Wellingtons.

Wehrmacht was the name of the German army  from 1935 until its collapse 10 years later.  

XU  was an intelligence agency in Norway with contacts primarily through Stockholm.
SOURCES

Oral Sources:

Magnus Askvik, Ingeborg Bjørnen, Einar Evensen, Magnus Hauge, Alf A. Heggland, Jakob Hjelle, Hans H. Holmefjord, Torvald Jakobsen, Leif Larsen (Shetland Larsen), Torbjørn M. Lyssand, Synneve Lønningdal (who had the shop in Lønningdal), Helén Mowinckel Nilsson, Lars Orrebakken, Alfred Remøy (navigation officer on Vigra), Magnus K. Røttingen, Johan Sudmann Creek, Gunnar Wiig-Andersen, Sverre Østervoll, Haldor Øvredal. 

Reports

Maurice Neil: Nazi Capture Avoided
Harvey Firestone: Six Sacks of Potatoes
Einar Evensen: Rapport over arbeidet med de seks kandiske fygerne (Report on the work with the six Canadian aircrew)
Helén Mowinckel Nilsen: Wellington-dramaet på Os (Wellington Drama at Os)

The Royal Air Forces Escaping Society (RAFES), formed after World War II, was an association of airmen who had managed to escape from captivity or had avoided being captured after landing in hostile territory.  The Canadian branch was formally disbanded in 2006.  Roy Brown was its long-time secretary.  When the author contacted him via the internet, Brown immediately put him in touch with Harvey Firestone, who was (in 2010) living in Victoria, British Columbia.  Harvey had written down his memories of the forced landing in Os for his family, and sent a copy of that report to the author.   In addition, he and the author had correspondence via email.

INSIDE FRONT COVER

Arnfinn Haga is a noted lecturer and since 1975 has been a full-time author.  He is primarily known for his books about Norwegian resistance during the German occupation from 1940 to 1945.  In 2003, Haga was awarded the King's Gold Medal of Merit for his writings on World War II.  At the presentation of the medal, Svein Alsaker, County Governor of Hordaland said: “With your books, you have created a monument to the altruistic and courageous work of many.  You have also communicated proud chapters of our wartime history to future generations.”

INSIDE BACK COVER

Books by Arnfinn Haga about Norwegians at war:

Det regner I fjellet  (It Is Raining in the Mountains)

Dette er vinteren (It is Winter)

Arquebus kaller London  (Arquebus Calling London)

Natt på norskekysten (Night on the Norwegian Coast)

Kystens partisaner (Coastal Partisans)

Da stjernene frøs (When the Stars Froze)

Jernring rundt Bjørn West  (Iron Ring around Bjørn West)

Vi fløy Catalina (We Fly Catalinas)

Landang ved midnatt (Landing at Midnight)

Klar til storm (Ready to Storm)

Er det du, Laurits? (Is That You, Laurits?)

Da Stein-organisasjon ble sprengt  (The Stein Organization Was Blown)

Måne over Øygarden (Moon over Øygarden)

Operasjon Ravnen (Operation Raven)

Mørket var min venn (Darkness Was My Friend)

Gå i dekning, Sofie (Go Into Hiding, Sofie)

Aksjon Televåg (Televåg Action)

Hunden uler mot månen (The Dog Howls at the Moon)

Fristed for fredløse (Haven for Outlaws)

Fiendtlige spor fra kysten (Hostile Tracks from the Coast)

Alta bataljon 1940 (Alta Battalion 1940)

Valdres 1940 

Den Store Flukten (the Great Escape)

Skygger over Utvær (Shadows over Utvær)

En kutter med flybensin (A Cutter With Aviation Fuel)

Raidet mot Stordø Kisgruber (Raid on Stordø Kisgruber)

I mulm og mørke (In the Dead of Night)

Rongevær 

Angiveren (Informer)

Rapport fra utpostene (Report from the Outposts)

Skyggen (Shadow)

OUTSIDE BACK COVER
In the autumn of 1944 a Wellington Bomber with a crew of six Canadians made an emergency landing in Os, Norway. They had been on u-boat patrol over the North Sea. Amazingly all survived the landing without major injuries, and in this wild and strange place they managed to slip away into the forest before the Germans arrived.  They soon made contact with the resistance.  They were on the run on both land and sea while the Germans blanketed the countryside searching for them.  The Norwegian resistance kept them safe and they were never captured by the Germans.  Finally, they were taken from the coastal municipality of Austevoll to Shetland Island by a sub-destroyer. 


Arnfinn Haga has written a full account of the action-packed emergency landing and rescue. 
�	Radio-operators sent and received messages in Morse code.


�	In 2019 some of the family members of the crew came up with an explantion of why the fuel valve failed to close.  The valve was powered by hydraulic pressure created by the starboard engine.  With the engine shut down, there was not enough pressure to close the valve.  This was not known to the crew and determined only by checking design specifications of the aircraft. 


�	A Norwegian mile is about 7 miles.  While his estimate may not have been accurate measured in a straight line (about 230 English miles), it was probably accurate for land or sea travel.


�	See definitions chapter for a description of “kommune.”


�	In 1944, the name of the town was written as Osøyri; on modern maps is it written Osøyro.


�	Egil Skallagrimsson was a hero (or anti-hero) of a famous Icelandic saga.


�	Three submarine chasers (subchasers) were operated out of the Shetland Islands by the “Royal Norwegian Naval Special Unit” and made clandestine trips to Norway, helping people escape from Norway, landing resistance fighters in Norway, and taking supplies.  Subchasers could operate relatively quietly for ships their size.    


�	Translator's note.  The knee still bothers him 65 years later.  As does the sore neck from the landing in Os.


�	This was the start of a friendship that has continued while the two men still lived.  Harvey and Kjell were the last two survivors of the crew and the Norwegians who helped them.  Harvey died in 2019 and Kjell shortly after.  


�	Translator's note – It was the type of motor that gave the distinctive “putt-putt” sound to Norwegian fishing boats.


�	Translator's Note.  Into the 20th Century, Norwegian's surnames could be their parent's surname, a patronymic (eg. Evan's son – Evensen) or the name of their town.  Magnus and Sigvald had were not brothers or cousins, but were both from Røttingen.
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